
Appendix 4E

ASX Preliminary Final Report

Name of entity: Heemskirk Consolidated Limited

ABN: 18 106 720 138

Reporting period: 1 October 2013 to 30 September 2014

Previous corresponding period: 1 October 2012 to 30 September 2013

Results for announcement to the market

Results

Current 

Period

Previous 

Period

% 

Change

 $'000  $'000 

705         855         (18%)

(1,721)     (338)       409%

(5,370)     (5,157)     (4%)

2,991      1,240      141%

(2,379)     (3,917)     39%

(3,144)     (3,121)     (1%)

Dividends

No final franked dividend for 2013 was paid during the period.

No dividend has been declared in respect of the 2014 year.

Brief explanation of the figures reported above

Financial Statements

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

Consolidated Balance Sheet

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Notes to the Financial Statements

Retained Earnings/(Accumulated Losses)

Current 

Period

Previous 

Period

% 

Change

 $'000  $'000 

(59,874)   (55,957)   7%

1,342      -             0%

(2,379)     (3,917)     39%

-             -             0%

(60,911)   (59,874)   (2%)

Net Tangible Assets Per Share

Current 

Period

Previous 

Period

% 

Change

 cents per 

share 

 cents per 

share 

Net tangible assets per share 13.70 15.77 (13%)

Revenue from continuing operations

The results for the year ended 30 September 2014 incorporate revenue earned from mining operations, profit on sales of equity

investments and unrealised equity investment losses. Additional information is available in the Company announcement being

released to the ASX following this report.

Refer to the attached audited Annual Financial Report for the period 1 October 2013 to 30 September 2014 for the following

information:

Retained earnings/(accumulated losses) at the end of the financial period

Dividends provided for or paid

Net profit/(loss) attributable to members

Items credited directly to retained earnings

Accumulated profits/(accumulated losses) at the beginning of the financial period

Loss attributable to members

Loss from continuing operations after tax attributable to members

Other income/(expense)

Total comprehensive income/(loss)

Profit from discontinued operations after tax attributable to members



Control Gained Over Entities Having A Material Effect

Not applicable.

Review Of Performance For Period

Refer to the additional information attached.

Compliance Statement

This report is based on financial statements that have been audited.

Signed:

-------------------------------------

Peter Bird

Managing Director

Date: 26 November 2014

cwu
Stamp
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Financial Performance  

2014 Key Performance Highlights 

 Net profit from sale of Lethbridge mineral products plant is $2.607 million, sale price CAD 10.492 million 

 Financing initiatives progressed but incomplete for the Moberly Frac Sand Project (the Project) 

 $0.541 million invested in developing the Frac Project 

 Cash and cash equivalents held is $12.101 million 

 Value of 15% equity investment in Almonty $3.983 million 

Key Strategies for 2015 

 Complete financing for the Moberly Frac Sand Project 

 Commence construction of the facility (at the time of writing the first stage is underway) 

 Invest in Canada’s safety, efficiency and capacity 

 Continuous monitoring of corporate expenditure 

 Subsequent to successful execution of the frac initiative pursue and focus on other assets 

Financial Overview 

The Company recorded a net loss after income tax of $2.379 million in 2014 compared with $3.917 million 

for 2013.  Included within the net loss after income tax of $2.379 million is a gain on sale after income tax of 

$2.607 million relating to the sale of the Lethbridge operations.   

Corporate and Portfolio segments recorded a total loss after tax of $3.660 million which included unrealised 

losses of $1.266 million.  Net assets totalled $21.162 million compared with net assets of $24.297 million at 

the end of 2013.   

The Company ended the year with cash and cash equivalents of $12.101 million and $4.226 million in other 

financial assets, representing total cash and liquid assets of $16.327 million.  The movement in cash and 

liquid assets over the last 12 months is represented in the bridge chart below: 

 

1
 EBITDA is defined in Note 25 of the Financial Statements. EBITDA is non-IFRS financial information and is based on audited financial 

information.  The Company believes this non-IFRS information is relevant to the users understanding of the results. 
2 Core working capital is Trade and other receivables plus Inventories minus Trade and other payables and has been extracted directly 

from the consolidated balance sheet. 
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Bridge chart of Heemskirk's 2014 cash and liquid assets
(EBITDA1, Core Working Capital2 )3
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3 This is non-IFRS financial information and has not been subject to review of audit by the Company's external auditor, but is considered 

relevant for users of the financial statements. 
 

 
Profit drivers (2014 versus 2013) 
 
The following bridge chart summarises the main drivers of the 2014 profit result and is explained in the 

commentary that follows. 

 

Gross profit – the discontinued Lethbridge operation and lower interest income from the continuing 

operation reduced profit. 

Net equity losses – Almonty dividend income of $0.126 million was offset by unrealised losses of 

$1.266 million mainly from the decrease in Almonty share price to 0.670 (2013: 0.969).  Almonty warrants 

expired during the year resulting in a realised loss of $0.664 million. 

Employee benefits expense – a lower headcount in the corporate segment drove the reduction in 

employee benefit expenses from $2.097 million in 2013 to $1.282 million. 

Other costs – cost cutting strategies reduced corporate, consultants and finance costs. 

Profit from discontinued operations – the Lethbridge operation was sold on 31 March 2014 at a net profit 

of $2.607 million.  Tax expense for discontinued operation was $0.501 million. 

Outlook 

Oil and gas horizontal well drilling activity remains strong despite a reduction in the oil price in the September 

2014 quarter.  Hence, demand for frac sand in these wells remains strong.  Wells are completing more 

stages with consumption per well averaging between 2,800 - 4,000 tonnes.  Total wells completed in the past 

year in the Western Canadian Sedimentary Basin were 9,712 (actual completions in 2013). 
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Review of Operations and Activities 

Safety 

The health and safety of the Heemskirk workforce is of fundamental importance.  The Company's safety 

policies and reporting procedures are reviewed continually in order to identify areas which can be improved 

and changes are implemented accordingly.  

At the end of the year the Company's medically treated injury (MTI) and lost time injury (LTI) frequency rates 

were both at zero.   

In March 2014 the Moberly operation received an award at the BC Mines Annual Mine Safety Awards for 

completing 2013 without an LTI.  The Moberly operation also received a Certificate of Achievement at the 

Open Pit Mine and Quarry Awards for completing over 15,000 worker hours with a zero injury frequency rate.  

Heemskirk will continue to promote an intrinsic safety culture throughout all levels of the Company and 

endeavour to maintain zero MTI and LTI frequency rates.  

Corporate 

Corporate costs for the year were $2.329 million, slightly less than the estimate of approximately 

$2.400 million.   

 
 

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 

Segment assets (A$m) 16.488 23.424 12.636 8.497 11.564 

Segment revenue
1
  (A$m)

 
 0.226 0.836 0.760 0.413 0.531 

Segment costs  (A$m) 9.359 3.660 3.484 2.879 2.329 

Segment EBITDA
2
  (A$m) (9.133) (2.824) (2.724) (2.466) (1.796) 

Segment revenue as a percentage 
of Segment asset 

1% 4% 6% 5% 5% 

 

Finance costs for the year were $0.322 million (2013: $0.437 million).   

Canada 

Heemskirk Canada (HCA) is a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company which has been a producer of 

industrial mineral products for over 30 years.  HCA now has an administrative office in Calgary and an 

operation in British Columbia.  During the year the Company sold its operating Lethbridge mineral product 

plant in Alberta and an optioned barite exploration interest in Nevada in the United States. 

The company is currently redeveloping the Moberly British Columbia operation to be able to produce high 

quality frac sands, glass sands and other high purity silica sands. 

                                                 
1
 Segment Revenue is per Note 25 of the audited Financial Statements. 

2
 Segment EBITDA is per Note 25 of the audited Financial Statements. 
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Mining 

Over the year revenue was $16.707 million compared to $23.582 million in the previous year, reflecting the 

Lethbridge asset sale on 1 April 2014.  The balance of the Canadian business has moved to a development 

phase. 

 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 

Industrial minerals sold  (tonnes) 56.481 60.583 68.324 77.773 51.951 

Segment revenue
3
  (A$m) 13.164 14.305 18.425 23.582 16.707 

Segment revenue per tonne sold  
(A$/t) 

233 236 270 303 322 

Segment EBITDA
4
  (A$m) 1.310 1.528 2.422 1.733 0.196 

Segment EBITDA as a percentage 
of Segment revenue 

10% 11% 13% 7% 1% 

 

Sale of Lethbridge 

On 20 March 2014, Heemskirk shareholders approved the sale of the Lethbridge mineral products plant in 

Alberta, Canada and optioned barite mineral claims in the United States to a wholly owned subsidiary of 

Marquis Alliance Energy Group Inc. 

The sale consideration was announced on 21 January 2014 as CAD8.440 million plus inventory of 

CAD3.560 million, a total of CAD12.000 million.  The final consideration receivable consisted of 

CAD8.440 million plus CAD2.052 million for inventory at 31 March 2014, a total of CAD10.492 million.  The 

inventory for sale had reduced by CAD1.508 million due to sales to customers. 

The sale agreement also made provision for an adjustment to be made to the purchase price in respect of 

any earnings (which belonged to Marquis Alliance) that was generated by the business between 1 February 

2014 and the closing date of the sale.  The earnings adjustment payable to Marquis Alliance was 

CAD0.519 million.   

Sale transaction costs of CAD0.759 million were paid in 2H 2014. The profit on sale before tax is CAD3.140 

million, income tax payable on the sale of approximately CAD0.499 million is due for payment by 

30 November 2014.  The sale was finalised with a net profit of CAD2.641 million. 

Moberly 

The Moberly frac sand processing and distribution asset is strategically located within the Western Canadian 

Sedimentary Basin (WCSB) at Golden, British Columbia (see figure 1). 

Moberly has its own rail siding adjacent to Canadian Pacific Railways’ main East West rail line, the Trans-

Canada Highway, and on the western edge of the WCSB in British Columbia (figure 2). providing customers 

with logistical flexibility for delivery. 

 

                                                 
3
 Segment Revenue is per Note 25 of the audited Financial Statements. 

4
 Segment EBITDA is per Note 25 of the audited Financial Statements. 
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Figure 1:  Moberly location in the WCSB - North American Areas of Use 

 

Figure 2:  Layout of proposed plant at existing Moberly Plant Site 

This project will service the oil and gas drilling industry’s frac sand requirements in British Columbia  On 

14 October 2014 Heemskirk announced that the Board had approved the first stage of construction of the 

Moberly asset.  The Company was able to break ground at Moberly in order to pour concrete footings before 

winter set in.  This provides the option of moving to the next stage of construction over the colder months. 
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Demand for frac sand is growing strongly and is expected to accelerate as the oil and gas exploration 

companies expand the search for and development of gas resources immediately adjacent to Moberly.  Gas 

demand is expected to rise from the LNG export facilities under construction on Canada’s Pacific coast. 

Initial plans are for a 300,000 tonne a year facility servicing the Canadian drilling market of approximately 3.0 

million tonnes a year.  The Moberly plant is located approximately 16km from the mine which has a 

32.4 million tonne measured and indicated resource of 64% frac sand as reported on 28 October 2014. 

Independent tests have verified that the project, as designed can produce American Petroleum Institute (API) 

specification 20/40, 30/50, 40/70 and 100 mesh Frac sands capable of meeting the requirements of 

exploration and development companies operating in Canada.  Located approximately 700km from Grand 

Prairie, Alberta, an oil and gas hub, Moberly is well situated to provide a logistical advantage to its customers 

in the WCSB.  Trucks can travel between Moberly and almost any wellsite in the WCSB in one day if the rail 

lines are busy or disrupted. 

Heemskirk will use local construction and engineering group Maple Reinders to establish footings for the 

processing operations situated on the freehold owned and permitted plant site at an estimated capital cost of 

C$2.14m. 

This work will be internally funded and remains within the overall budget. 

Whist this work is underway the subsequent construction elements will be subject to final detailed pricing and 

award. 

Throughout the year the Company has explored a variety of funding alternatives for developing the Project to 

maximise shareholder value.  Heemskirk has received a number of confidential approaches to fund the 

Project.  At the time of writing the Board is undertaking due diligence on these approaches. 

The Company invested CAD0.541 million (2013: CAD 1.110 million) in developing the Project, bringing the 

total cumulative exploration and evaluation expenditure on the project since inception to CAD 5.449 million 

(2013: CAD 4.908 million).  No minor capital works were incurred in 2014 (2013: CAD 0.038 million). 

The Company has received a number of confidential approaches to fund the Moberly Frac Sand Project.  

These proposals are preliminary and are currently undergoing due diligence on a non exclusive basis.  

Heemskirk is aware that its main business risk is funding the Moberly Project.  To facilitate mitigating this 

risk, the Company has employed a Financial Advisor with appropriate experience to assist evaluate a 

number of potential strategic alternatives to fund the Moberly Project and create value for our shareholders.  

Other types of risks facing this project include:  safety; stakeholder engagement; engineering execution; 

commodity pricing; key personnel engagement and retention; and exchange rate.  

Portfolio 

From time to time the Company undertakes investments in both listed and unlisted companies in the 

resource industry.  This allows us to gain good geological and geographical reach and foster key strategic 

relationships in this industry. 

The Company holds 5.55m shares in Almonty Industries Inc (Almonty) (TSXV:AII), a TSX Listed tungsten 

producer.  The shares were received as part payment for the sale of Heemskirk’s Los Santos Tungsten Mine 
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to Almonty in April 2011.  The market value of the holding as at 30 September 2014 was $3.98m.  The 

Company also received 3.70 million warrants at CAD 1.25 per share to buy an additional 7.5% equity in 

Almonty.  The Company's right to exercise these warrants expired on 23 September 2014 without any of the 

warrants being exercised.  Hence, $0.664 million of the realised loss on equity investments is from the 

expiration of these warrants. 

Future Portfolio performance is dependent on individual company performance and overall market 

conditions. 

Looking to 2015 

Despite a difficult mining finance environment in 2014, confidence returned in the September quarter of 

2014.  We are therefore looking to 2015 with ongoing commitment to develop and complete the Moberly 

Project.  Upon its commissioning we will examine new opportunities to grow shareholder value by targeting 

undervalued resource companies with exceptional growth opportunities and close to generating positive 

cash flow.   
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Directors’ Report (Including Remuneration Report) 

Your Directors submit their report for the period 1 October 2013 to 30 September 2014. 

Directors and Directors’ Profiles 

The names and details of the Directors of the Company in the office during the financial year and until the 

date of this report are: 

Garry Cameron, Non Executive Chairman  

Peter Bird, Managing Director  

William A (Lex) Hansen, Non Executive Director 

John Taylor, Non Executive Director 

Graham Lenzner, Non Executive Chairman (retired 20 March 2014) 

The Directors’ qualifications, experience and special responsibilities are disclosed below. 

Garry Cameron PSM 

BBus(A/c,) BEc(Hons), MEc, FAICD, FCPA 

Non Executive Chairman 

Garry was Managing Director of a listed property group for 10 years and prior executive roles include 

Executive Director Finance for Telstra.  He is currently a Non Executive Director with ANZ Specialised Asset 

Management.  The ANZ roles over the past eight years have been in funds management of energy and 

infrastructure projects particularly focused on large coal, gas and biofuels projects from exploration to 

delivery.   

Garry was formerly a Non Executive Director of Molopo Energy Limited. 

Garry was recognised in 1992 on the Australia Day Honours list for his contributions to the Finance and 

Telecommunications industries. 

Garry joined the Board on 24 February 2011 and was appointed Chairman on 20 March 2014. 

Peter Bird  

BSc(Hons), MAICD, AFin 

Managing Director  

Peter has worked in the resource industry for over 20 years.  He brings operational and corporate experience 

combined with a strong understanding of company analysis and global investment markets. 

Peter is a geologist and has held technical, management, investment and human resource positions with 

major companies such as Western Mining Corporation Limited, Merrill Lynch Equities and Newmont Mining 

Corporation and executive positions with Normandy Mining Limited and Newcrest Mining Limited.  Peter is 

Non Executive Chairman of Excelsior Gold Limited. 
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Peter is a Founding Director of the Company and was appointed Managing Director on 1 December 2011.  

William A (Lex) Hansen 

BSc, MBA, FAusIMM, FAICD 

Non Executive Director  

Lex has more than 45 years’ experience within the mining industry.  He was an Executive Director of 

Corporate Finance (Mining) at HSBC Bank Australia Limited with regional responsibility for resources debt 

and equity investment appraisals and underwriting transactions.  

Lex was a Director and Partner of share-broking firm Roach & Co.  Prior to that, he held technical and 

finance positions with CSR Limited, Tenneco Corp and Utah Development Company.  Lex has been a Non 

Executive Director of Endocoal Limited and was previously a Non Executive Director of Platinum Australia 

Limited. 

Lex joined the Board on 1 March 2004. 

John Taylor 

BE(Chem), MBA, FIChemE. 

Non Executive Director 

John Taylor was Managing Director of Outotec Australasia Pty Ltd (previously Outokumpu Technology and 

prior to that, Lurgi Australia).  He has held senior positions in management, process engineering and plant 

construction, primarily in the mining, minerals processing and environmental sectors.   

John is a Non Executive Director of KGL Resources Limited and was previously a Non Executive Director of 

listed companies Ticor Ltd, Environmental Group Ltd and Ausmelt Limited. 

He is a part time consultant to Outotec South East Asia Pacific. 

John joined the Board on 9 May 2011.   

Graham Lenzner – retired 20 March 2014 

BEc, FAICD  

Non Executive Chairman 

Graham has had a career spanning four decades with particular involvement in funds management and 

financial markets.  Additionally he worked as an executive for some years in the insurance, building products 

and construction industries. 

He was an Executive Director of the Armstrong Jones Group for 12 years, the last four as Joint Managing 

Director.  Previous roles include Finance and Deputy MD of Aquila Steel and GM Finance and Investments 

of MMI Insurance Ltd. 

Graham has served on the Board of a number of public and private companies.  He is Chairman of Device 

Technologies Australia Ltd, a Director of 360 Capital Group Limited and former Chairman of Aevum Limited. 

Graham joined the Board of Heemskirk as Chairman on 24 February 2011 and retired on 20 March 2014. 
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Andrew Metcalfe 

B.Bus, CPA, FGIA, MAICD 

Company Secretary 

Andrew has over 25 years of corporate experience across a range of industry sectors holding the position of 

Company Secretary, Governance Advisor and Chief Financial Officer for a number of ASX listed entities, 

unlisted public entities and not-for-profit organisations operating in Australia, Canada, UK and China; 

operating in resource/energy, property, retail, telecommunications/technology and media industries, as well 

as adviser to independent schools. 

Andrew is employed by Accosec & Associates, a professional Chartered Secretary and Governance 

Advisory Firm, and assists HSK in company secretarial practice and governance policies and procedures. 

Andrew was appointed Company Secretary on 27 August 2014. 

 

Directors’ Meetings  

Attendance at Board and Committee meetings throughout the year is tabled below. 

A  Number of meetings held during the time the Director held office during the period 

B  Number of meetings attended 

C Number of meetings attended by invitation 

Director Board 
Meetings 

Audit & Risk Meetings
2
 Remuneration & 

Nomination Meetings
3
 

 A B A B C A B C 

Garry Cameron
 

16 16 2 2  3 3  

Peter Bird 16 15 2  2 3  3 

William A (Lex) Hansen 16 16 2 2  3 3  

John Taylor
 

16 15 2 2  3 3  

Graham Lenzner
1 

10 10 2  2 3 3  
 

1.
 Graham Lenzner retired on 20 March 2014. 

2.
 The Audit & Risk Committee was disbanded on 20 March 2014.  The Board assumed the responsibilities of the Audit & Risk 

Committee from this date. 

3.
 The Remuneration & Nomination Committee was disbanded on 6 May 2014.  The Board assumed the responsibilities of the 

Remuneration & Nomination Committee from this date. 

Principal Activities 

The Company’s principal activities during the year were industrial minerals exploration, evaluation, 

development, production and marketing and corporate investments in the resource industry. 
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Consolidated Results 

The Company recorded a net loss after income tax of $2.379 million in 2014 compared with a net loss of 

$3.917 million in 2013. 

Review of Operations 

A review of operations of the Company during the financial year and the results of those results are set out 

on pages 3 to 7. 

Significant Changes in State of Affairs 

The review of operations (pages 3 to 7) sets out a number of matters which have had a significant effect on 

the state of affairs of the Company during the financial year. 

Events Subsequent to Balance Date 

There are no matters or circumstances which have arisen since 30 September 2014 that have significantly 

affected or may affect the operations of the Company, the results of those operations or the state of affairs of 

the Company in subsequent financial years. 

Likely Developments 

In general terms, the review of operations of the Company gives an indication of likely developments and the 

expected results of the operations. In the opinion of the directors, disclosure of any further information would 

likely result in unreasonable prejudice to the Company. 

Environmental Compliance 

The Company holds licences issued by the relevant environmental protection authorities of the various 

countries in which the Company operates. These licences specify limits and regulate the management of 

mining and processing operations. 

The Company has permits to enable the Moberly Frac Sand Project to proceed and these are being 

progressively amended as required to maintain compliance, no material issues have arisen to date. 

There have been no significant known breaches of the Company's licence conditions. 

Dividends 

During the year, no dividends were paid in respect of the 2013 year. 

No dividend has been declared in respect of the 2014 year. 
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Remuneration Report (Audited) 

1. Introduction 

This Remuneration Report outlines the Director and Executive remuneration arrangements of the Company 

in accordance with the requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and its Regulations for the year ending 

30 September 2014. 

For the purpose of this report, Key Management Personnel (KMP) of the Company are defined as those 

persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the major activities of the 

Company, directly or indirectly, including any Director (whether Executive or otherwise) of the Parent 

Company. 

For the purpose of this report, the term ‘executive' encompasses the Managing Director, Senior Executives, 

General Managers and Secretaries of the Parent Company and the Company. 

Non-Executive Directors 
(NEDs) 

 

Graham Lenzner Chairman (non-executive) – retired 20 March 2014 

Garry Cameron Chairman (non-executive) – appointed as Chairman 20 March 2014 

William A (Lex) Hansen Director (non-executive) 

John Taylor Director (non-executive) 

Executive Director  

Peter Bird Managing Director 

Other KMP  

Stephen Gray Financial Controller and Company Secretary – terminated 27 August 
2014 

Alan Minty President Heemskirk Canada – resigned 1 April 2014 

Mark Connors President Heemskirk Canada – appointed 1 April 2014 

 

2. Remuneration Governance 

Remuneration & Nomination Committee (RNC) 

The Board absorbed the functions of the Remuneration & Nomination Committee on 6 May 2014.  Until this 

date, this Committee of the Board of Directors of the Company was responsible for determining and 

reviewing remuneration arrangements for the directors and executives and comprised three independent 

Non-Executive Directors (NEDs).  Whilst it was operational, the RNC, assessed the appropriateness of the 

nature and amount of remuneration of KMP on an annual basis by reference to relevant employment market 

conditions with the overall objective of ensuring maximum stakeholder benefit from the retention of high 

quality, high performing directors and executive team.  The Board of Directors has fulfilled the RNC 

responsibilities from 6 May 2014. 

The Managing Director attended certain RNC meetings by invitation.  The Managing Director was not present 

during any discussions related to his own remuneration arrangements.  Similarly the Managing Director was 

not present during discussion related to his own remuneration as part of the scheduled Board meeting.  
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Use of remuneration consultants 

To ensure the Board is fully informed when making remuneration decisions, it seeks external remuneration 

advice. 

New legislation was introduced in 2011 that impacts how companies can seek advice which includes a 

remuneration recommendation in relation to KMP remuneration.  Therefore, in 2012 the Board underwent a 

formal appointment process and Mercer Australia was appointed as the remuneration advisor to the 

Company. 

In order to ensure the former RNC (now the Board) is provided with advice, and as required, remuneration 

recommendations, free from undue influence by members of the KMP to whom the recommendations may 

relate, the engagement of Mercer by the RNC was based on an agreed set of protocols that would be 

followed by Mercer, members of the RNC and members of KMP. 

No remuneration recommendations were provided during the 2014 year.  

Approach to setting remuneration 

In 2014, the executive remuneration framework consisted of fixed remuneration and short and long-term 

incentives as outlined. 

The Company aims to reward executives with a level and mix of remuneration commensurate with their 

position and responsibilities within the Group and aligned with market practice. 

Non Executive Directors Remuneration 

The Board seeks to set aggregate remuneration at a level which provides the Company with the ability to 

attract and retain directors of the highest calibre, whilst incurring a cost which is acceptable to shareholders. 

Fees paid to NEDs reflect the demands that are made on, and responsibilities of, NEDs in discharging their 

duties.  The fees are fixed and no remuneration is tied to the Company's performance.  Each NED receives a 

fee for being a director of the Company.  No additional fee was paid for each Board committee on which a 

Director sat. 

The remuneration of NEDs for the year ended 30 September 2014 is detailed on page 17 of this Report. The 

current maximum aggregate sum is $500,000 per annum. This is intended to provide the Board with scope to 

appoint new NEDs in the future.  It is not intended to distribute this full amount by way of fees in the current 

year. 

In accordance with the Constitution, Directors are permitted to be paid additional fees for special services on 

execution.  No such fees were paid during the year.  Directors are also entitled to be reimbursed for all 

business related expenses, including travel on Company business as may be incurred in the discharge of 

their duties. Such reimbursements are not included in the remuneration cap. 
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The table below summarises the NED Board remuneration including superannuation for the year ended 

30 September 2014. 

Chairman $83,889 

Directors $63,801 

 

Mr Garry Cameron was entitled to the nominal annual fee of $98,324 as Non Executive Chairman from 

20 March 2014 when he was appointed to this position.  

The total remuneration for NEDs in 2014 was $257,640. 

Executive and Executive Director Remuneration 

The Company aims to reward its Executives and Executive Directors with a level of remuneration 

commensurate with their position and responsibilities within the Company so as to: 

 Reward Executives and Executive Directors for Company, business unit and individual performance 

against targets set by reference to appropriate benchmarks. 

 Reward Executives and Executive Directors having regard to the strategic goals and performance of 

the Company. 

 Ensure total remuneration is competitive by market standards. 

Remuneration consists of the following key elements: 

(i) Fixed Remuneration - Remuneration that is "not at risk" 

Fixed Remuneration refers to agreed Base Salary plus associated benefits.  This also includes statutory 

benefits such as superannuation, annual and sick leave.  Fixed Remuneration is benchmarked annually 

against industry and job role comparator groups. Personal performance will influence the changes in Fixed 

Remuneration. 

The level of Fixed Remuneration is set so as to provide a base level of remuneration which is both 

appropriate to the position and is competitive in the market. 

Remuneration packages for staff, who report directly to the Managing Director, are based on the 

recommendation of the Managing Director subject to the approval of the Board in the annual budget setting 

process. The remuneration of the Company's Executive Director and Executives for the financial period is set 

out on page 18 of this Report. 

In determining the Fixed Remuneration payable for each subsequent financial year, the Board will have 

regard to the performance of both the Company and the performance of the relevant individuals. 

(ii) Variable Remuneration - Remuneration that is "at risk" 

The payment of Variable Remuneration is subject to performance measures which are linked to personal 

objectives and company strategy to align remuneration with the Company's objectives.  The performance 

measures are subdivided into Personal Performance as determined by the annual Staff Review and 

Company Performance as determined by the performance of the Company versus appropriate measures.  

Performance against these measures determines the amount of Variable Remuneration paid on an annual 
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basis.  As with Fixed Remuneration, the variable component is benchmarked annually against industry and 

job role comparator groups. 

Variable Remuneration can be subdivided into Short Term Incentives (STI) and Long Term Incentives (LTI). 

STI - Short Term Incentives 

Short term performance as a basis for compensation will involve a performance evaluation period of 

12 months, beginning in October each year. 

In structuring the annual incentive, the Company will first determine the business objectives for the next 

12 months within the context of a broader 3-5 year strategic plan.  Next, appropriate internal performance 

measures or Key Performance Indicators (KPI) are agreed.  The nature of the compensation is in the form of 

cash. 

The relevant KPIs which determined STI awarded were categorised as follows:   

 Stakeholder management; 

 Financial performance and cost control 

 Business management; and  

 People management (including safety). 

The total potential STI available is set at a level so as to provide sufficient incentive to executives to achieve 

the operational targets and such that the cost to the Company is reasonable in the circumstances.   

Actual STI payments awarded to each executive depends on the extent to which specific targets set at the 

beginning of the financial year are met.  The targets consist of a number of key performance indicators (KPIs) 

covering both financial and non financial (such as safety), corporate and individual measures of performance.  

The targets include Net Profit After Tax (NPAT) and completion of key objectives.  A summary of the 

measures and weightings are set out below. 

 
Individual 

KPIs 

Company 
Performance 

KPIs 

Canada 
Performance 

KPIs 

Executive - Australia 50% 50% -% 

Executive – Canada 50% -% 50% 

 

These measures were chosen as they represent the key drivers for the short term success of the business 

and provide a framework for delivering long term value. 

The aggregate of annual STI payments available for executives across the Company is subject to the 

approval of the Board.  On an annual basis, after consideration of performance against KPIs, the Board 

determines the amount, if any, of the short term incentive to be paid to each executive.  This process usually 

occurs within three months after the reporting date.  Payments made are delivered as a cash bonus in the 

following reporting period.  Managing Director payments are up to 33% of base pay and other KMP STI 
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payments are up to 50% of base pay depending on grade and level.  The Board also has the ability to award 

discretionary cash bonuses to executives. 

The following table outlines the business unit performance in relation to the 2013 year. 

Business unit Performance measure 
FY13 performance 
versus budget 

Corporate & Portfolio Net profit after tax (Company) Under performed 

Canada Net profit after tax (Canada) Under performed 

 

The following table outlines the proportion of maximum STI that was earned and forfeited in relation to the 

2013 year. 

Executive Director Proportion of maximum 
STI earned in 2013 

Proportion of maximum 
STI forfeited in 2013 

P. Bird 15% 85% 

Other KMP   
S. Gray -% 100% 

A. Minty (Canada) 27% 73% 

 

The STI related to 2014 has yet to be decided and approved by the Board of Directors. 

LTI - Long Term Incentives 

The objective of long term incentives is to encourage staff and executive performance to deliver sustained 

shareholder value.  The Company Long Term Incentive (LTI) scheme is designed to reward participants for 

implementation of the strategic plan and to align the long term interests of the shareholders, senior executive 

management and the Company by linking a portion of participating employees’ remuneration at risk to the 

Company’s future performance.  The Heemskirk Consolidated Employee Share Purchase Plan (the Plan) is 

designed to achieve this outcome. 

The Plan involves the issue of shares in the Company.  While Plan shares are “restricted shares”, they may 

not be sold or transferred, mortgaged, hedged (or otherwise encumbered) or otherwise dealt with by a 

participant.  The Plan is part of an executive's "at risk" salary component and issues may be made annually.  

Under the terms of the Plan an initial share allocation may be made after completion of a qualifying period of 

12 months. The Company has adopted a four year vesting period for Shares issued under the Plan, Year 1 - 

25%, Year 2 - 25%, Year 3 - 25%, and Year 4 - 25%. 

Under the Plan an interest free loan is made to the Executive to fund the acquisition of shares in the 

Company.  A portion of dividends are required to be applied to the loan reduction and the loan balance must 

be paid out from share sale proceeds.  If the share sale proceeds are less than the value of the loan, the 

Executive pays the balance of the loan.  If the loan balance is not retired, the employee is unable to receive 

any benefit from the shares.  If an Executive leaves prior to vesting of shares then the shares are forfeited 

and the loan is cancelled.  

Canadian Executives receive the right to acquire shares under the Plan rather than having the shares issued 

to them.  The right to acquire is permitted after each vesting date. 
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An issue of shares to the Managing Director is a result of executing KPI’s from the Company’s strategic plan 

and payments are up to 44% of base pay.  Any issue to the Managing Director is subject to shareholder 

approval.  Other KMP LTI payments are up to 50% of base pay depending on level and grade.   

Key performances indicators are linked to the strategic plan with key milestones incorporating organic 

growth, key developments, acquisitions and divestments.  For example, key deliverables in relation to 

developing the Frac Sand Project features prominently in the executive KPI’s.  On an annual basis, after 

consideration of performance against KPIs, the Board determines the amount, if any, of the long term 

incentive to be paid to each executive.  This process usually occurs within three months after the reporting 

date. 

The following table outlines the proportion of maximum LTI that was earned and forfeited in relation to the 

2013 year. 

Executive Director Proportion of maximum 
LTI earned in relation to 
2013 

Proportion of maximum 
LTI forfeited in relation to 
2013 

P. Bird 0% 100% 

Other KMP   
S. Gray 0% 100% 

A. Minty (Canada)
 

0% 100% 

 

The LTI related to 2014 has yet to be decided and approved by the Board of Directors. 

Remuneration of KMP 

Non Executive Directors’ remuneration for the year ended 30 September 2014 

 

SHORT TERM BENEFITS POST EMPLOYMENT 
TOTAL 

$ 

Salary, Fees & Commissions 
$ 

Superannuation 
$ 

 

Garry Cameron 2014 76,735 7,154 83,889 

 2013 63,882 5,787 69,669 

William A (Lex) Hansen 2014 44,088 19,713 63,801 

 2013 48,750 20,919 69,669 

Graham Lenzner* 2014 42,242 3,907 46,149 

 2013 89,530 17,653 107,183 

John Taylor 2014 58,366 5,435 63,801 

 2013 63,882 5,787 69,669 

Total 2014 211,431 36,209 247,640 

 2013 266,044 50,146 316,190 

* Mr Lenzner retired on 20 March 2014. 

Fees paid to NEDs are fixed and no remuneration is tied to the Company’s performance. 
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Executives’ remuneration for the year ended 30 September 2014 

 
Fixed Remuneration 

Variable 
Remuneration 

   

Short Term Benefits Post Employment 
Short 
Term 

Share/ 
Rights 
Based 

Payments 
(1)

 
Termination 
Benefits 

(2)
 

Total 
Remuneration 

 
Performance 

Related 
 

Salary, Fees & 
Commissions 

Non-
Monetary 
Benefits 

Superannuation 
Cash 

Bonus 
 

  $ $ $ $ $ $ $ % 

P Bird
(7)

 2014 437,512 14,324 19,737 22,707 - - 494,280 4.6% 

 2013 418,880 14,324 16,796 - 6,750 - 456,750 1.48% 

M Flook
(3)

 2014 75,458 - 24,460 - - - 99,918 0.00% 

 2013 270,843 - 28,907 - 2,888 303,062 605,700 0.48% 

S Gray 
(4)

 2014 205,928 - 30,240 - - 109,535 343,703 0.00% 

 2013 173,135 - 17,077 14,403 3,580 - 208,195 8.64% 

A Minty
(5)

 2014 160,533 9,919 5,957 30,738 - 90,289 297,436 10.33% 

 2013 234,564 19,834 11,728 39,659 7,859 - 313,644 15.15% 

M Connors
(6)

 2014 126,505 6,614 4,706 - - - 137,825 0.00% 

 2013 - - - - - - - 0.00% 

Total 2014 1,005,936 30,857 85,100 53,445 - 199,824 1,373,162  

 2013 1,097,422 34,158 74,508 54,062 21,077 303,062 1,584,289  
 

(1) Fair value of Long Term Incentives granted to Executive. 

(2) Termination benefits include payments in lieu of notice. 

(3) Mr Flook retired 31 July 2013.  Following completion of 6 months' notice the termination benefits were paid on 31 January 2014. 

(4) Mr Gray was terminated  27 August 2014.  The termination benefits were paid on 15 September 2014. 

(5) Mr Minty resigned 1 April 2014.  The termination benefits were paid on 30 April 2014. 

(6) Mr Connors met the definition of a KMP on his appointment as President Heemskirk Canada from 1 April 2014. 

(7) Mr Bird received an STI payment of $22,707 relating to the year ended 30 September 2013.  This was approved by the Board on 

22 October 2013.    

Long term incentives movements during the year(1) 

EXECUTIVE GRANT 
DATE 

FAIR 
VALUE 
PER 
SHARE/ 
RIGHT AT 
AWARD 
DATE 

(2) 
 

FIRST 
VESTING 
DATE 

FINAL 
VESTING 
DATE 

EXERCISE 
PRICE 
(2)

 

NO. 
SHARES/ 
RIGHTS 
GRANTED 
 

NO. SHARES 
VESTED OR 
EXERCISABLE 
RIGHTS 

NO. 
SHARES/ 
RIGHTS 
LAPSED 
 

P Bird  1.03.13 2.25 1.03.14 1.03.17 12 300,000 75,000 - 

M Flook 1.03.13 2.25 1.03.14 1.03.17 12 128,332 - 128,332 

 1.03.12  1.03.13 1.03.16  - - 216,864 

S Gray 1.03.13 2.25 1.03.14 1.03.17 12 159,124 39,781 - 

 1.03.12  1.03.13 1.03.16  - 27,738 - 

 1.03.11  1.03.12 1.03.15  - 24,905 - 

A Minty 
(3)

 1.03.13 2.25 1.03.14 1.03.17 12 349,312 87,328 - 

 1.03.11  1.03.12 1.03.15  - 50,854 - 

(1) At the date of this report, there has been no repayment of LTI loans or dividends applied against loans. 

(2) Cents per share. 

(3) Grant to Mr Minty are rights which are exercisable after each vesting date. 
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Long term incentives held and granted 

Executive Balance  
01.10.13  

NO. SHARES AND 
RIGHTS GRANTED 

DURING THE PERIOD 

 
BALANCE 30.09.2014 

NO. HELD NO. HELD NO. RIGHTS 
EXERCISABLE 

NO. SHARES 
VESTED 

P Bird  300,000 - 300,000 - 75,000 

S Gray 404,106 - 404,106 - 92,424 

A Minty 
(1)

 451,020 - 451,020 138,182 - 

 

(1) Grant to Mr Minty are rights which are exercisable after each vesting date. 

Long term incentives fair value movements during the year 

 
 
 
 
Executive 

 
Fair value of 

shares/rights granted 
during the year 

$ 

Fair value of 
shares/rights 

exercised during 
the year 

$ 

 
Fair value of vested 

shares forfeited 
during the year 

$ 

 
Remuneration consisting of 

shares/rights granted during the 
year 

% 

P Bird  - - - - 

S Gray - 8,940 - - 

A Minty - - - - 

M Connors - - - - 
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          Shareholding of KMP 

   

 
                                     

                                        Balance 01.10.2013 

                                  

                                 Period ended 30.09.2014 

 

                                       Balance 30.09.2014 

KMP 
Ordinary 
Shares 

Class 
A$0.25 
Partly Paid 
Ordinary 
Shares 

 

Class B 
$0.50 
Partly Paid 
Ordinary 
Shares 

 

Employee 
Share 
Plan 
Reserved 
Shares 
(vested) 
(1) 

 

Class 
A$0.25 
Partly 
Paid 
Ordinary 
Shares 

Granted 

Class B 
$0.50 Partly 
Paid 
Ordinary 
Shares 

Granted 

Net 
Change 
Ordinary  
Shares (2) 

Net 
Change 
Employee 
Share Plan 
Reserved 
Shares (3) 

 

Ordinary 
Shares 

Class 
A$0.25 
Partly Paid 
Ordinary 
Shares 

 

Class B 
$0.50 Partly 
Paid 
Ordinary 
Shares 

 

Employee 
Share 
Plan 
Reserved 
Shares 
(vested) 
(1) 

 
P. Bird 5,952,659 - - - - - - 75,000 5,952,659  

 
- - 75,000 

G. Cameron 175,000 - - - - - - - 175,000 - - - 

W. Hansen 268,466 100,000 500,000 - - - - - 268,466 100,000 500,000 - 

G. Lenzner 900,000 - - - - - - - 900,000 - - - 

J. Taylor 500,000 - - - - - - - 500,000 - - - 

M. Flook 1,950,001  
 

- - 54,216 - - - (54,216) 1,950,001  - - - 

S.Gray 39,893 - - 111,958 - - (39,893) 27,167 - - - 139,125 

A. Minty 191,734 - - 50,854 - - (7,563) 87,328 184,171 - - 138,182 

M. Connors - - - - - - - - - - - - 

Total 9,977,753 100,000 500,000 166,174 - - (47,456) 135,279 9,930,297 100,000 500,000 352,307 

 

(1) Employee share plan reserved shares including vested shares and rights which are exercisable after each vesting date. 

(2) Net change ordinary shares refer to ordinary shares purchased or sold on market during the financial year. 

(3) Net change employee share plan reserved shares refers to shares and rights vested, forfeited and exercised during the financial year. 
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Founders’ Plan (Executive Bonus Plan) 

On 28 July 2010 the Company announced that it had agreed to terminate the Founders’ Plan and settlement 

terms were agreed.  This action had the full support of the Founders and the then Heemskirk Board.  The 

settlement provided for all outstanding partly paid shares held by the Founders to be paid up on execution. 

In conjunction with the Founder's Plan settlement, loan facilities were made available to the Founder's to 

assist with discharging any Australian taxation liability as a result of the settlement.  The drawdown of the 

facility as at 30 September 2014 is $310,657 (2013: $279,000). 

The loan facility is interest-bearing at market rates and repayable by cash or a predetermined number of 

pledged Company shares at a value of 50 cents per share plus termination payments.  Any shortfall in 

repayments after the value of the loan facility has been reduced by cash, the pledged Company shares and 

termination payments will be forgiven and treated as an expense.  In the unlikely event of a termination for 

cause, the Company has recognised in the accounts a potential shortfall in relation to the Managing Director 

of $129,688 (2013: $160,000) as at 30 September 2014. 

Details relating to Employment Contracts 

Remuneration arrangements for executives are formalised in employment agreements.  Details of these 

contracts are provided below.  

Managing Director 

The Managing Director is employed under an ongoing contract which can be terminated with notice by either 

the Managing Director or the Company. 

Under the terms of the present contract as disclosed to the ASX on 1 December 2011 the Managing Director: 

 receives fixed remuneration of $450,000 per annum; 

 the target STI opportunity is up to 33% of his fixed remuneration; and 

 is eligible to participate in the Company’s LTI plan on terms determined by the Board up to 44% of 

his fixed remuneration, subject to receiving any required or appropriate shareholder approval. 

The Managing Director’s termination provisions are as follows: 

 Notice Period Payment in lieu 
of notice 

Treatment of STI 
on termination 

Treatment of LTI 
on termination 

Resignation 6 months 6 months Unvested awards 
forfeited 

Unvested awards 
forfeited 

Termination for 
cause 

None None Unvested awards 
forfeited 

Unvested awards 
forfeited 

Termination 
without cause 

12 months 12 months Unvested awards 
forfeited 

Unvested awards 
forfeited 

 

The employment contract contains a six month post employment restriction which may be exercised at the 

election of the Company. 
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Other KMP 

For Other KMP, remuneration and other terms of employment are formalised in employment contracts that 

can be terminated with notice.  Each of these agreements provide for an annual review of annual base pay, 

provision of performance related cash bonuses, other benefits and participation in the Long Term Incentive 

Plan.  The contracts provide for notice ranging from three to six months for resignation by the executive or 

termination by the Company. 

 Notice Period Payment in lieu 
of notice 

Treatment of STI 
on termination 

Treatment of LTI 
on termination 

Resignation 3-6 months 3-6 months Unvested awards 
forfeited 

Unvested awards 
forfeited 

Termination for 
cause 

None None Unvested awards 
forfeited 

Unvested awards 
forfeited 

Termination 
without cause 

3-6 months 3-6 months Unvested awards 
forfeited 

Unvested awards 
forfeited 

 

Relationships of Incentives to Company’s Performance 

At risk LTIs for Other KMP are based on Company performance on net profit after tax and individual KPIs. At 

risk LTIs for the Managing Director are based on the execution of the Company’s strategic plan. 

Heemskirk’s Financial Performance 

Year Ended 30 September 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 

Net Profit After Tax (NPAT) ($m) 
(39.6) (3.4) (2.2) (3.9) (2.4) 

Basic Earnings Per Share (EPS)
(1) 

(cents) 
(29.75) (6.67) (2.20) (2.54) (3.48) 

Dividend declared (cents) 
0 0 0 0 0 

Share Price at 30 Sep (cents) 
26.0 11.0 12.5 6.5 14.0 

Share Price increase/(decrease)
(2) 

(cents) 
(25.0) (15.0) 1.5 (6.0) 7.5 

 
     

 
(1) Basic EPS is calculated as net profit after tax from continuing operations divided by weighted average 

number of ordinary shares 
(2) Share Price movement during the financial year 

 
Indemnification and insurance of Directors and Officers  

The Company has entered into agreements to indemnify all of the Directors named in this report and the 

Company Secretary against all liabilities to persons (other than the Company), which arise out of the 

performance of their normal duties as Directors or Executive Officers unless the liability relates to conduct 

involving a lack of good faith.  The Company has agreed to indemnify the Directors and the Company 

Secretary against all costs and expenses incurred in defending an action that falls within the scope of the 

indemnity and any resulting payments. 

Since the close of the financial year, the Company has paid a premium for an insurance policy for the 

benefit of the Directors and the Company Secretary.  In accordance with common commercial practice, the 
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insurance policy prohibits disclosure of the nature of the liability insured against and the amount of the 

premium. 

Indemnification of Auditors  

To the extent permitted by law, the Company has agreed to indemnify its auditors, Ernst & Young, as part of 

the terms of its audit engagement agreement against claims by third parties arising from the audit (for an 

unspecific amount).  No payment has been made under this indemnity to Ernst & Young during or since the 

end of the financial year. 

Corporate Governance Statement 

This statement, set out in Section 5 of the 2013 Annual Report, summarises the Company's key corporate 

governance policies that were in place during the year.  Details of the Company’s corporate governance 

policies are located on our website www.heemskirk.com. 

No significant changes in the state of affairs other than those contained in this report. 

Rounding of Amounts 

The financial report is presented in Australian dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand 

dollars ($'000) unless otherwise stated under the option available to the Company under ASIC Class Order 

98/0100. The Company is an entity to which the class order applies. 

Non-Audit Services 

Details of the amounts paid or payable to the external auditors of the Company, Ernst & Young, for audit 

and non-audit services provided during the year are disclosed in note 24 to the Financial Report. There 

were no non-audit services provided during the year. 

Signed in accordance with a 

resolution of the Directors 

 

 
 

Garry Cameron 

Non-Executive Chairman 

Melbourne 

26 November 2014 

 
Peter Bird  

Managing Director 

Melbourne 

26 November 2014 
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Auditor’s Independence Declaration to the Directors of Heemskirk
Consolidated Limited

In relation to our audit of the financial report of Heemskirk Consolidated Limited for the financial year
ended 30 September 2014, to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been no contraventions of
the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 or any applicable code of
professional conduct.

Ernst & Young

Michael Collins
Partner
26 November 2014



FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2014

 2014  2013

Note $'000 $'000

Revenue from continuing operations 4 705             855             

Cost of sales 5 (1,146)        (813)           

Gross profit/(loss) (441)           42               

Proceeds on sale of equity investments 61               565             

Cost of equity investments sold (281)           (523)           

Realised loss on equity investments (664)           -             

Unrealised loss on equity investments (1,266)        (470)           

Net loss on equity investments (2,150)        (428)           

Other income 429             90               

Total other expenses (1,721)        (338)           

Depreciation and amortisation expense 5 (399)           (423)           

Employee benefits expense 5 (1,282)        (2,097)        

Corporate costs (544)           (847)           

Consultants and advisory expense (519)           (637)           

Finance costs 5 (455)           (767)           

Impairment expense 5 (11)             (46)             

Loss before income tax from continuing operations (5,372)        (5,113)        

Income tax expense from continuing operations 6 2                 (44)             

Loss after income tax from continuing operations (5,370)        (5,157)        

Profit from discontinued operations (net of income tax) 7 2,991          1,240          

Loss after income tax (2,379)        (3,917)        

Other comprehensive income:

Items that will be subsequently reclassified to the income statement

Foreign currency translation 21b (283)           671             

(29)             -             

Items that will not be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss

Asset revaluation (453)           125             

Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the period, net of tax (765)           796             

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the period (3,144)        (3,121)        

Earnings per share (EPS) from continuing operations 9

Basic earnings per share (cents) (3.48)          (3.35)          

Diluted earnings per share (cents) (3.48)          (3.35)          

Earnings per share on profit/(loss)

Basic earnings per share (cents) (1.54)          (2.55)          

Diluted earnings per share (cents) (1.61)          (2.57)          

The above statement of comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

D. CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

The consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the comparative period and notes have been restated to present results 

from continuing operations only.

Foreign currency translation differences recycled to income statement on disposal of 

foreign operation
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E. CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET AS AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2014

2014 2013

Note $'000 $'000

ASSETS

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 10 12,101        8,502          

Trade and other receivables 11 388             3,986          

Inventories 12 1,397          5,934          

Other financial assets 13 4,226          6,431          

Other current assets 256             193             

Total current assets 18,368        25,046        

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 14 1,986          6,512          

Exploration, evaluation and mine development 15 5,430          5,167          

Deferred tax assets 6 2                 133             

Total non-current assets 7,418          11,812        

TOTAL ASSETS 25,786        36,858        

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 16 707             6,347          

Interest bearing loans and borrowings 17 2,776          5,144          

Provisions 18 265             520             

Income tax payable 6 783             141             

Financial derivative liability -             22               

Total current liabilities 4,531          12,174        

Non-current liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities 6 58               295             

Interest bearing loans and borrowings 17 -             15               

Provisions 18 35               77               

Total non-current liabilities 93               387             

TOTAL LIABILITIES 4,624          12,561        

NET ASSETS 21,162        24,297        

EQUITY

Contributed equity 19 81,184        81,184        

Reserves 889             2,987          

Retained earnings/(losses) 21 (60,911)      (59,874)      

TOTAL EQUITY 21,162        24,297        

The above balance sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Ordinary 

shares fully 

paid

Class A 

Ordinary 

shares 

partly paid

Class B 

Ordinary 

shares 

partly paid

Convertible 

notes

Reserved 

shares

Retained 

earnings

Asset 

revaluation 

reserve

Foreign 

currency 

translation 

reserve

Employee 

share based 

payment 

reserve Total Equity

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Balance at 1 October 2012 79,842         1                  15                2,003           (677)             (55,957)        1,940           25                193              27,385            

Loss for the period -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   (3,917)          -                   -                   -                   (3,917)             

Other comprehensive income net of tax -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   125              671              -                   796                 

Total comprehensive income for the period -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   (3,917)          125              671              -                   (3,121)             

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners

Employee share based payments -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   33                33                   

Balance at 30 September 2013 79,842         1                  15                2,003           (677)             (59,874)        2,065           696              226              24,297            

Ordinary 

shares fully 

paid

Class A 

Ordinary 

shares 

partly paid

Class B 

Ordinary 

shares 

partly paid

Convertible 

notes

Reserved 

shares

Retained 

earnings

Asset 

revaluation 

reserve

Foreign 

currency 

translation 

reserve 

Employee 

share based 

payment 

reserve Total Equity

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Balance at 1 October 2013 79,842         1                  15                2,003           (677)             (59,874)        2,065           696              226              24,297            

Loss for the period -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   (2,379)          -                   -                   -                   (2,379)             

Foreign currency translation differences recycled to income statement on 

disposal of foreign operation -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   (29)               -                   (29)                  

Other comprehensive income net of tax -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   (453)             (283)             -                   (736)                

Total comprehensive income for the period -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   (2,379)          (453)             (312)             -                   (3,144)             

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners

Employee share based payments -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   9                  9                     

Transfer of asset revaluation reserve on disposal of land -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   1,342           (1,342)          -                   -                   -                      

Employee share plan shares quoted as ordinary shares (85)               -                   -                   -                   85                -                   -                   -                   -                   -                      

Balance at 30 September 2014 79,757         1                  15                2,003           (592)             (60,911)        270              384              235              21,162            

The above statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

F. CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2014

Issued capital

Issued capital
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G. CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2014

2014 2013

Note  $'000  $'000 

Cash flows from operating activities

Receipts from customers 20,581        21,230        

Payments to suppliers and employees (23,103)      (24,241)      

Interest received 234             450             

Income tax received/(paid) (200)           (375)           

Finance costs paid (467)           (841)           

Net cash flows used in operating activities 27(a) (2,955)        (3,777)        

Cash flows from investing activities

Cash deposit for bank investments/guarantees 3                 4,157          

Proceeds from the sale of equity investments 61               564             

Purchases of equity investments -                  (259)           

Proceeds from the sale of property, plant and equipment 9,083          65               

Purchases of property, plant and equipment (173)           (673)           

Exploration, evaluation and mine development expenditure (535)           (1,059)        

Dividends received 126             -                  

Net cash flows from investing activities 8,565          2,795          

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds/(repayment) of borrowings (2,285)        58               

Net cash flows from/(used in) financing activities (2,285)        58               

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 3,325          (924)           

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 8,502          9,426          

Net foreign exchange differences 274             0                 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 10 12,101        8,502          

The above statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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H. NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2014

(a) Basis of preparation

The Company is a for profit entity.

(b) Compliance with IFRS

Adoption of New Standards and Interpretations

- AASB 10 - Consolidated Financial Statements

- AASB 12 - Disclosure of interests in Other Entities

- AASB 13 - Fair Value Measurement

- AASB 119 - Employee Benefits

- AASB 2012-2 - Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Disclosure - Offsetting 

Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities

-

New Accounting Standards and Interpretations not yet adopted

The Company has adopted the following new and/or revised Standards, Amendments and Interpretations from 1 

October 2013:

The financial report complies with Australian Accounting Standards as issued by the Australian Accounting Standards

Board and International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS") as issued by the International Accounting Standards

Board.

Where necessary, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform with changes in presentation in the current

year.

The financial report is presented in Australian dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand dollars

($'000) unless otherwise stated under the option available to the Company under ASIC Class Order 98/0100. The

Company is an entity to which the class order applies.

The financial report is a general purpose financial report, which has been prepared in accordance with the

requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and Australian Accounting Standards. The financial report has also been

prepared on a historical cost basis, except for derivative financial instruments, equity investments and land, which

have been measured at fair value.

Heemskirk Consolidated Limited (the parent entity) is a company limited by shares incorporated in Australia whose

shares are publicly traded on the Australian Stock Exchange.

Adoption of the above Standards, Amendments and Interpretations did not have any material effect on the financial

position or performance of the Company but resulted in some additional disclosure.

The following standards, amendments to standards and interpretations have been identified as those which may

impact the Company in the period of initial application.

They have been issued but are not yet effective at 30 September 2014, but have not been applied in preparing this

financial report.

AASB 2011-4 - Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards to Remove Individual Key Management 

Personnel Disclosure Requirements

The financial report of Heemskirk Consolidated Limited and its controlled entities (the Company) for the year ended

30 September 2014 was authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the directors on 26 November 2014.

The nature of the operations and principal activities of the Company and its controlled entities are resource equity

investments, mining and processing of minerals.

NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
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Reference and Title Details of the New Standard/Amendment/Interpretation

Impact on 

Company

Application 

date for the 

Company

AASB 2012-3 (i) 1-Oct-14

Amendments to 

Australian Accounting 

Standards

AASB 2013-3 (i) 1-Oct-14

Amendments to AASB 

136 – Recoverable 

Amount Disclosures for 

Non-Financial Assets

AASB 9 (ii) 1-Oct-15

Financial Instruments

Annual Improvements (i) 1-Oct-14

2010–2012 Cycle 

Amendments to IAS 16 

and IAS 38

(i) 1-Oct-16

Clarification of 

Acceptable Methods of 

Depreciation and 

Amortisation 

(Amendments to

IAS 16 and IAS 38)

AASB 9 includes requirements for the classification and 

measurement of financial assets. These requirements 

improve and simplify the approach for classification and 

measurement of financial assets compared with the 

requirements of AASB 139.

IAS 16 and IAS 38 both establish the principle for the basis of 

depreciation and amortisation as being the expected pattern 

of consumption of the future economic benefits of an asset. 

The IASB has clarified that the use of revenue-based 

methods to calculate the depreciation of an asset is not 

appropriate because revenue generated by an activity that 

includes the use of an asset generally reflects factors other 

than the consumption of the economic benefits embodied in 

the asset.

The IASB also clarified that revenue is generally presumed to 

be an inappropriate basis for measuring the consumption of 

the economic benefits embodied in an intangible asset. This 

presumption, however, can be rebutted in certain limited 

circumstances. 

The standards clarifies the meaning of "current has a legally 

enforceable right of set-off" and that some gross settlement 

systems may be considered equivalent to net settlement.

AASB 2013-3 amends the disclosure requirements in AASB 

136 Impairment of Assets. The amendments include the 

requirement to disclose additional information about the fair 

value measurement when the recoverable amount of 

impaired assets is based on fair value less costs of disposal.  

This standard sets out amendments to International Financial 

Reporting

Standards (IFRS) and the related bases for conclusions and 

guidance made during the International Accounting 

Standards Board’s Annual Improvements process. These 

amendments have not yet been adopted by the AASB.

The following items are addressed by this standard:

    IFRS 2 - Clarifies the definition of 'vesting conditions' and 

'market condition' and introduces the definition of 

'performance condition' and 'service condition'.

    IFRS 8 - Requires entities to disclose factors used to 

identify the entity's reportable segments when operating 

segments have been aggregated.  An entity is also required 

to provide a reconciliation of total reportable segments' asset 

to the entity's total assets.  

     IAS 16 & IAS 38 - Clarifies that the determination of 

accumulated depreciation does not depend on the selection 

of the valuation technique and that it is calculated as the 

difference between the gross and net carrying amounts.

     IAS 24 - Defines a management entity providing KMP 

services as a related party of the reporting entity. The 

amendments added an exemption from the detailed 

disclosure requirements in paragraph 17 of IAS 24 for KMP 

services provided by a management entity. Payments made 

to a management entity in respect of KMP services should be 

separately disclosed. 
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IFRS 15 (ii) 1-Oct-18

Revenue from 

Contracts with 

Customers

(i) 

(ii) The Company has not yet determined the extent of the impact, if any.

(c) Basis of consolidation

The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are 

changes to one or more of the three elements of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group 

obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the subsidiary. 

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of Heemskirk Consolidated Limited and its

subsidiaries as at 30 September 2014. 

IFRS 15 establishes principles for reporting useful information 

to users of financial statements about the nature, amount, 

timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from 

an entity’s contracts with customers.

IFRS 15 supersedes:

(a) IAS 11 Construction Contracts

(b) IAS 18 Revenue

(c) IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes

(d) IFRIC 15 Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate

(e) IFRIC 18 Transfers of Assets from Customers

(f) SIC-31 Revenue—Barter Transactions Involving 

Advertising Services

The core principle of IFRS 15 is that an entity recognises 

revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services 

to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to 

which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those 

goods or services. An entity recognises revenue in 

accordance with that core principle by applying the following 

steps:

(a) Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer

(b) Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the 

contract

(c) Step 3: Determine the transaction price

(d) Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance 

obligations in the contract

(e) Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity 

satisfies a performance obligation.

- Power over the investee (i.e. existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the 

investee)'

- Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee, and

- the ability to use its Power over the investee to affect its returns

- the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee'

 - rights arising from other contractual arrangements

- the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights to an investee, the Group considers all

relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an insestee,

Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the

investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. Specifically, the Group

controls an investee if and only if the Group has:

Accounting policies of subsidiaries are consistant with the Group. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income,

expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full on

consolidation.

Assets, liabilities, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the

statement of comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control until

the date the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

The adoption of this new standard, amendment or interpretation is not expected have a material impact on the 

Company's financial statements.
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(d) Foreign currency translation

(i) Functional and presentation currency

(ii) Transactions and balances

(e) Cash and cash equivalents

(f) Inventories

(g) Derivative financial instruments 

-

-

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of

completion and estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently

remeasured to their fair value at each reporting date. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in the statement of

comprehensive income immediately unless the derivative is designated and effective as a hedging instrument, in

which event, the timing of recognition in the statement of comprehensive income depends on the nature of the hedge

relationship.

Foreign currency transactions are translated into functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the date

of the transaction. Foreign currency monetary items are translated at the year-end exchange rate. Non-monetary

items measured at historical cost continue to be carried at the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Non-

monetary items measured at fair value are reported at the exchange rate at the date when fair values were

determined.

The functional currency of each of the Company's entities is measured using the currency of the primary economic

environment in which that entity operates. The consolidated financial statements are presented in Australian dollars,

which is the parent entity's functional and presentation currency.

Materials and supplies are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Any provision for obsolescence is

determined by reference to specific stock items identified. A regular and ongoing review is undertaken to establish

the extent of surplus items and a provision is made for any potential loss on their disposal.

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost of manufactured products includes

direct materials, direct labour and an appropriate portion of variable and fixed overheads. Overheads are applied on

the basis of normal operating capacity. Costs are assigned on the basis of weighted average costs. The costs of

mining stocks include direct materials, direct labour, transportation costs and variable and fixed overhead costs

relating to mining activities.

Exchange differences arising on the translation of monetary items are recognised in the statement of comprehensive

income, except where deferred in equity as a qualifying cashflow or net investment hedge until disposal at which time

they are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. Exchange variations resulting from the translation of

subsidiaries functional currency are recognised in the foreign currency translation reserve in equity.

Cash and cash equivalents in the balance sheet comprise cash at bank and in hand and short-term deposits with a

maturity of three months or less.

For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents as

defined above. Bank overdrafts are included within interest bearing loans and borrowings in current liabilities.

In accordance with the requirements of the accounting standards, foreign currency translation gains/(losses) remain

deferred in equity until the disposal of the foreign operation, at which point they are recognised in the statement of

comprehensive income.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of derivatives are taken directly to the income statement,

except for the effective portion of cash flow hedges, which is recognised in other comprehensive income.

fair value hedges, when they hedge the exposure to changes in the fair value of a recognised asset or liability; or

cash flow hedges, when they hedge exposure to variability in cash flows that are either attributable to a particular 

risk associated with a recognised asset or liability or a highly probable forecast transaction.

For the purposes of hedge accounting, hedges are classified as:
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(h) Investments and other financial assets

(i) Fair value through profit or loss; and

(ii) Amortised costs

(i) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

(ii) Financial assets at amortised cost

(i) Property, plant and equipment

(i) Land and Buildings

Following initial recognition at cost, freehold land is carried at a revalued amount. Fair value is the price that could be

received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an ordinary transaction between market participants at the

measurement date.

The Company classifies its financial assets into the following categories:

Additionally, any accumulated depreciation as at the revaluation date is eliminated against the gross carrying amounts

of the assets and the net amounts are restated to the revalued amounts of the assets.

Amounts accumulated in equity are transferred to the statement of comprehensive income in the period when the

hedged item affects the statement of comprehensive income, for instance when the forecast sale that is hedged takes 

place.

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised, or no

longer qualifies for hedge accounting. At that point in time, any cumulative gain or loss on the hedging instrument

recognised in equity remains deferred in equity until the original forecasted transaction occurs. When the forecasted

transaction is no longer expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss that was deferred in equity is recognised

immediately in the statement of comprehensive income.

Each class of property, plant and equipment is measured at cost or fair value less, where applicable, any

accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Any revaluation increment is credited to the asset revaluation reserve included in the equity section of the balance

sheet, except to the extent that it reverses a revaluation decrease of the same asset previously recognised in the

statement of comprehensive income, in which case the increase is recognised in the statement of comprehensive

income.

Freehold land is measured at its fair value. It is the policy of the Company to have an independent valuation every

three to five years, with annual appraisals being made by the directors.

The fair values of investments that are actively traded in organised financial markets are determined by reference to

quoted market bid prices at the close of business on the balance sheet date. For investments with no active market,

fair values are determined using valuation techniques. The valuation is determined by reference to the current

market value of another instrument that is substantially the same. Realised gains or losses are included in the

statement of comprehensive income. The Company recognises unrealised gains and losses of equity investments in

the statement of comprehensive income under the “fair value through profit and loss” approach.    

These financial assets are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs that are directly attributable to the

acquisition of financial asset. After initial recognition, these assets are measured at amortised cost, using the effective

interest method. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when these assets are derecognised or impaired,

as well as through the amortisation process.

Any revaluation decrease is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income, except that a decrease offsetting

a previous revaluation increase for the same asset is debited directly to the asset revaluation reserve to the extent of

the credit balance existing in the revaluation reserve for that asset.

At the inception of the transaction, the Company formally designates and documents the relationship between

hedging instruments and hedged items, as well as its risk management objective and strategy for undertaking various

hedge transactions. The Company also documents its assessment, both at hedge inception and on an ongoing

basis, of whether the derivatives that are used in hedging transactions have been and will continue to be highly

effective in offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of hedged items.
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(ii) Plant and equipment

Plant and equipment is measured on the cost basis less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

(iii) Depreciation

(j) Leases

(k) Impairment of assets

An asset's carrying amount is immediately written down to its recoverable amount if the asset's carrying amount is

greater that its estimated recoverable amount.

Buildings are held at cost less any subsequent accumulated depreciation on buildings. Land and buildings are

reduced by any subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with the carrying amount. These gains and

losses are included in the statement of comprehensive income. When revalued assets are sold, amounts included in

the revaluation reserve relating to that asset are transferred to statement of comprehensive income.

The carrying values of plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment annually, with recoverable amount being

estimated when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. The

recoverable amount is assessed on the basis of the expected net cashflows that will be received from the assets

employed and subsequent disposal. The expected net cashflows have been discounted to their present values in

determining recoverable amounts.

Leases of plant and equipment under which the Company or its controlled entities assume substantially all the risks

and benefits incidental to ownership are classified as finance leases.  Other leases are classified as operating leases.

Finance leases are capitalised, with a lease asset and a lease liability equal to the fair value of the leased asset or, if

lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments determined at the inception of the lease. Lease

payments are apportioned between the finance charges and reduction of the lease liability. The finance charge

component within the lease payments is expensed. Capitalised leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the

estimated useful life of the asset and the lease term if there is no reasonable certainty that the Company or its

controlled entities will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term.

Payments made under operating leases are expensed on a straight-line basis over the lease term, except where an

alternative basis is more representative of the pattern of benefits to be derived from the leased asset.

The assets' residual values and useful lives are reviewed and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date.

An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset's carrying amount exceeds its recoverable

amount. Recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the

purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable

cash inflows that are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets (cash-generating

units - CGUs).

Items of property, plant and equipment, including buildings but excluding freehold land, are depreciated/amortised

over their estimated useful lives.

The Company uses the unit-of-production basis when depreciating mine specific assets which results in a

depreciation/amortisation charge proportional to the depletion of the anticipated remaining life of mine production.

Each item's economic life has due regard to both its physical life limitations and to present assessments of

economically recoverable reserves of the mine property at which it is located.

The remainder of assets but excluding freehold land, is depreciated on a straight line basis over their useful lives of 3 -

20 years, commencing from the time the asset is held ready for use. Leasehold improvements are depreciated over

the shorter of either the unexpired period of the lease or the estimated useful lives of the improvements.

The carrying amounts of all assets are reviewed yearly to determine whether there is an indication of impairment.
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(l) Trade and other payables

(m) Interest-bearing loans and borrowings

Borrowing costs

(n) Share-based payment transactions

(o) Unsecured converting notes

(p) Exploration, evaluation and feasibility expenditure

(i)  Rights to tenure of the area of interest are current; and

The remainder of the proceeds is allocated to the conversion option that is recognised and included in shareholders’

equity, net of transaction costs. The carrying amount of the conversion option is not remeasured in subsequent

years.

Transaction costs are apportioned between the liability and equity components of the unsecured convertible and

converting notes based on the allocation of proceeds to the liability and equity components when the instruments are

first recognised.

The Company may provide benefits to employees of the Company in the form of share based compensation, whereby

employees render services in exchange for shares or rights over shares ('equity-settled transactions'). Currently the

Company operates an Employee Share Plan. Further details are given in Note 20.

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the

effective interest method. Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities that are yield related are included as part of

the carrying amount of the loans and borrowings.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Company has an unconditional right to defer settlement of

the liability for at least 12 months after the balance sheet date.

The component of the unsecured converting notes that exhibits characteristics of a liability is recognised as a liability

in the balance sheet, net of transaction costs.

On issuance of the unsecured converting notes, the fair value of the liability component is determined using a market

rate for an equivalent non-convertible bond and this amount is carried as a long-term liability on the amortised cost

basis until extinguished on conversion or redemption. The increase in the liability due to the passage of time is

recognised as a finance cost.

Trade payables and other payables are carried at amortised cost. They represent liabilities for goods and services

provided to the Company prior to the end of the financial year that are unpaid and arise when the Company becomes

obliged to make future payments in respect of the purchase of these goods and services. The amounts are

unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition.

All loans and borrowings are initially recognised at the fair value of the consideration received less directly attributable

transaction costs.

Interest on the liability component of the instruments is recognised as an expense in the statement of comprehensive

income.

Borrowing costs are recognised as an expense when incurred, except when they are included in the costs of

qualifying assets.

Exploration and evaluation expenditure related to areas of interest is capitalised and carried forward to the extent

that:
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(ii) 

     

(q) Mine development 

(r) Deferred mining expenditure

All expenditure incurred prior to commencement of production from the development property is carried forward to the

extent to which it is probable associated future economic benefits will flow to the Company.

Such expenditure consists of an accumulation of acquisition costs and direct net exploration and evaluation costs

incurred by or on behalf of the Company, together with an appropriate portion of directly related overhead

expenditure.

At the commencement of production, all past exploration, evaluation and feasibility expenditure in respect of an area

of interest is transferred to mine development where it is amortised over the life of the area of interest to which they

relate.

When an area of interest is abandoned or the directors decide it is not commercial, any accumulated costs in respect

of that area are written off in the year the decision is made. Each area of interest is reviewed at the end of each

reporting period and accumulated costs written off to the extent they are not expected to be recoverable in the future.

(b) Where activities in the area of interest have not yet reached a stage which permits a reasonable assessment

of the existence or otherwise of economically recoverable reserves, active and significant operations in, or in

relation to, the area are continuing.

When further development expenditure is incurred in respect of the mine property after commencement of production,

such expenditure is carried forward as part of the cost of mine property only when future economic benefits are

probable, otherwise the expenditure is classified as part of the cost of production and expensed as incurred. Such

capitalised development expenditure is added to the total carrying value of mine development being amortised.

The net carrying values of mine development expenditure carried forward are reviewed yearly by directors to

determine whether there is any indication of impairment. The carrying value of mine development will be amortised in

full by the completion of the mine.

The life of mine is a function of an individual mine's design and therefore changes to that design will generally result

in changes to the amortisation rate. Changes in other technical or economic parameters that impact reserves will

also have an impact on the life of mine even if they do not affect the mine's design. Changes to the life of mine are

accounted for prospectively.

Mine development represents the expenditure incurred in preparing mines for production, and includes stripping and

waste removal costs net of revenue recognised before commissioning date. Such expenditure comprises net direct

costs and an appropriate allocation of directly related overhead costs.

The Company defers mining costs incurred during the production stage of its operations, initially as part of

determining the cost of mine development and then to inventories. Deferred mining costs for a mine are amortised

over the life of the mine against inventories on a unit-of-production basis taking in to consideration the total remaining

cost of developing the mine over its life. The life of mine is based on economically recoverable reserves of each

mine. The deferred mining costs in inventories are released to the statement of comprehensive income as an

amortisation expense.

Feasibility expenditure represents costs related to the preparation and completion of a feasibility study to enable a

development decision to be made in relation to an area of interest.

(a) Costs are expected to be recouped through successful development and exploitation of the area of interest

or alternatively by sale; or
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(s) Provisions for restoration 

(t) Contributed equity

Reserved shares

Unsecured convertible notes

(u) Revenue recognition

(i) Sale of goods

(ii) Interest income

(iii) Dividends

Revenue is recognised when the Company’s right to receive the payment is established.

(iv)  Management fees

Revenue is accrued as work is completed and the Company's right to receive payment is established.

(v) Income tax 

The Company is required to decommission and rehabilitate mines and processing sites at the end of their producing

lives to a condition acceptable to the relevant authorities.

The expected cost of any approved decommissioning or rehabilitation program, discounted to its net present value, is

provided when the environmental disturbance occurs. The cost is capitalised when it gives rise to future benefits,

whether the rehabilitation activity is expected to occur over the life of the operation or at the time of closure. The

capitalised cost is amortised over the life of the operation and the increase in the net present value of the provision for 

the expected cost is included in financing expenses. Expected decommissioning and rehabilitation costs are based on 

the discounted value of the estimated future cost of detailed plans prepared for each site. Where there is a change in

the expected decommissioning and restoration costs, the value of the provision and any related asset are adjusted

and the effect is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income on a prospective basis over the remaining life

of the operation.

Issued ordinary share capital is classified as equity and is recognised at the fair value of the consideration received by

the Company. Any transaction costs arising on the issue of ordinary shares and the associated tax are recognised

directly in equity as a reduction of the share proceeds received.

The Company's own equity instruments are reacquired for later use in employee share-based payment arrangements

and are deducted from equity. No gain or loss is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income on purchase,

sale, issue or cancellation of the Company's own equity instruments.

Each unsecured converting note may be converted into 3 ordinary shares and $1.45 cash every six months

commencing 31 December 2012. If there are any unsecured converting notes outstanding at maturity, the Company

will redeem them for 3 fully paid ordinary shares and $1.45 cash per convertible note. The notes will attract interest at

10.25% per annum paid semi annually.

Revenue is recognised and measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable to the extent it is

probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Company and the revenue can be reliably measured. The

following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognised:

Revenue is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods have passed to the buyer

and the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably. Risks and rewards of

ownership are considered passed to the buyer at the time of delivery of the goods to the customer.

Revenue is recognised as interest accrues using the effective interest method. Revenue is recognised when the

Company's right to receive payment is established.

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be

recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities based on the current period's taxable income. The tax rates and tax

laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.
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Deferred income tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences except:

-

-

-

-

Income taxes relating to items recognised directly in equity are recognised in equity and not in profit or loss.

Tax consolidation legislation

Unrecognised deferred income tax assets are reassessed at each balance sheet date and are recognised to the

extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset only if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax

assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to the same taxable entity and the

same taxation authority.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year when

the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or

substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

when the deferred income tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial

recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the

transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; or

when the deductible temporary difference is associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates or interests

in joint ventures, in which case a deferred tax asset is only recognised to the extent that it is probable that the

temporary difference will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which the

temporary difference can be utilised.

Heemskirk Consolidated Limited and its wholly-owned Australian controlled entities implemented the tax consolidation 

legislation as of 27 July 2005.

The parent entity, Heemskirk Consolidated Limited, and the controlled entities in the tax consolidated group continue

to account for their own current and deferred tax amounts. The Company has applied the group allocation approach

in determining the appropriate amount of current taxes and deferred taxes to allocate to members of the tax

consolidated group. The current and deferred tax amounts are measured in a systematic manner that is consistent

with the broad principles in AASB 112 Income Taxes.  

In addition to its own current and deferred tax amounts, Heemskirk Consolidated Limited also recognises the current

tax liabilities (or assets) and the deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and unused tax credits assumed

from controlled entities in the tax consolidated group. 

Deferred income tax is provided on all temporary differences at the balance sheet date between the tax bases of

assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

when the deferred income tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liability in a

transaction that is not a business combination and that, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the

accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; or

The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent

that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred income tax

asset to be utilised.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry-forward of unused tax

credits and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the

deductible temporary differences and the carry-forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised,

except:

when the taxable temporary difference is associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates or interests in

joint ventures, and the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference can be controlled and it is probable that

the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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(w) Goods and services tax (GST)

(x) Earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share is calculated as net profit attributable to members of the parent, adjusted for:

-

-

-

-

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or

payables in the balance sheet.

Basic earnings per share is calculated as net profit attributable to members of the parent, adjusted to exclude any

costs of servicing equity (other than dividends), divided by the weighted average number of ordinary shares, adjusted

for any bonus element.

costs of servicing equity (other than dividends);

the after tax effect of dividends and interest associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares that have been

recognised as expenses; 

other non-discretionary changes in revenues or expenses during the period that would result from the dilution of

potential ordinary shares; and 

divided by the weighted average number of ordinary shares and dilutive potential ordinary shares, adjusted for

any bonus element.

Cashflows are presented in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis, except for the GST component of investing

and financing activities, which are disclosed as operating cashflows.

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the amount of GST incurred

is not recoverable. In these circumstances the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as

part of an item of the expense.  Receivables and payables in the balance sheet are shown inclusive of GST.
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NOTE 2: FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

Cash flow interest rate risk

Foreign currency risk

Price risk

Credit risk

Liquidity risk

Refer to Note 22 for further disclosure on financial risk management objectives and policies.

The Company's policy is to maximise liquidity to enable the development of its projects.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2014

The Company’s principal financial instruments comprise equity investments, cash deposits, unsecured converting

notes and bank borrowings.

The main purpose of these financial instruments is to provide cash flow and funding for the Company’s operations.

The Company has various other financial assets and liabilities such as trade receivables and trade payables, which

arise directly from its operations. The Company also enters into derivative transactions. The purpose is to

manage the currency and commodity risk arising from the Company's operations and its source of finance.

The Company's exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the Company's short-

term overdraft facilities and cash at bank and in hand with a floating interest rate.

The Company's policy is to manage its interest cost using a mix of fixed and variable debt. To manage this mix, the

Company issued fixed rate unsecured converting notes.

The Company operates in Canada and Australia, and maintains exposure to the Canadian and the U.S. exchange

rates. As such, the Company's balance sheet can be affected by movements in these exchange rates. The policy

of the Company is to monitor foreign currency exposures and hedge on a case by case basis.

The Company has substantial holdings in mining and extractive industry stocks, the values of which are impacted

by commodity price movements. The Company tracks these holdings as equity investments, and closely monitors

the performance and values of these investments.

The policy of the Company is to maintain exposure to commodity price movements at its mining operations. The

Company may also use put options, forward contracts and commodity sale contracts to manage its downward price

risk.

The maximum exposure to credit risk, excluding the value of any collateral or other security, at balance date to

recognised financial assets, is the carrying amount, net of any impairment of those assets, as disclosed in the

balance sheet and notes to the financial statements. The Company trades only with recognised, creditworthy third

parties and such collateral is not requested nor is it the Company's policy to securitise its trade and other

receivables. Note 22(c) discloses credit risk and concentration risk issues.

The Company's objective is to use cash and cash equivalents, equity investments at fair value and financial assets

at amortised cost, bank loans, converting notes and equity to maintain liquidity.

At 30 September 2014, the Company had no forward contracts and no put options in place.

The main risks arising from the Company's financial instruments are cash flow interest rate risk, foreign currency

risk, price risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.
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NOTE 3: SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS

Determination of mineral resources and ore reserves

Restoration provision

Share based payments

Recovery of deferred tax assets

Exploration and evaluation costs

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2014

In applying the Company's accounting policies management continually evaluates judgements, estimates and

assumptions based on experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that may have an

impact on the Company. All judgements, estimates and assumptions made are believed to be reasonable based on

the most current set of circumstances available to management. Actual results may differ from the judgements,

estimates and assumptions. Significant judgements, estimates and assumptions made by management in the

preparation of these financial statements are outlined below:

The determination of reserves impacts the accounting for asset carrying values, depreciation and amortisation

rates, deferred stripping costs and provisions for restoration. The Company estimates its mineral resources and ore 

reserves in accordance with the Australian Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore

Reserves 2004 (the "JORC code"). The information on mineral resources and ore reserves was prepared by or

under the supervision of Competent Persons as defined in the JORC code. The amounts presented are based on

the mineral resources and ore reserves determined under the JORC code.

There are numerous uncertainties inherent in estimating mineral resources and ore reserves and assumptions that

are valid at the time of estimation may change significantly when new information becomes available.

Changes in the forecast prices of commodities, exchange rates, production costs or recovery rates may change the

economic status of reserves and may, ultimately, result in the reserves being restated.

Significant judgement is required in determining whether it is likely that future economic benefits will be derived

from the capitalised exploration and evaluation expenditure. At 30 September 2014 capitalised exploration and

evaluation expenditure relates to the Moberly Frac Sand project.  The Company continues to actively explore viable 

commercial alternatives to support the development of this project. Nothing has come to the attention of the

Directors to indicate future economic benefits will not be achieved.

The Company assesses its restoration provision annually in accordance with accounting policy Note 1(t).

Significant judgement is required in determining the provision for restoration as there are many transactions and

other factors that will affect the ultimate liability payable to rehabilitate sites. Factors that will affect the ultimate

liability include future development, changes in technology, price increases and changes in interest rates. When

these factors change or become known in the future, such differences will impact the restoration provision in the

period in which they change or become known.

The Company measures the cost of equity settled transactions with employees by reference to the fair value of

equity instruments at the date at which they are granted. The fair value is determined by using a Binomial Model,

using the assumptions detailed in Note 20.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and losses when management considers

that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available to utilise those temporary differences.

If new information becomes available that suggest the recovery of the expenditure is unlikely, the amounts

capitalised will need to be reassessed at that time. 
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NOTE 4: REVENUE FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS

2014 2013

$'000 $'000

- sale of goods 337           451            

- dividends received 126           -             

- interest received 242           404            

Total revenue 705           855            

NOTE 5: EXPENSES FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS

(excluding Expenses from Discontinued Operations - Refer Note 7)

2014 2013

The Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year includes the following expenses $'000 $'000

(a) Cost of sales

- sale of goods 1,146        813            

1,146        813            

(b) Depreciation and amortisation

Depreciation of:

- property, plant and equipment (refer to Note 14) 335           389            

Amortisation of:

- mine development (refer to Note 15) 64             34              

399           423            

(c) Finance costs

- convertible notes, leases, financing initiatives and overdrafts 520           824            

- unwind of discount on unsecured convertible notes (65)            (57)             

455           767            

(d) Operating lease payments

- rental expense on operating leases 139           426            

139           426            

(e) Employee benefits expense

- superannuation expense 86             120            

- share based payment expense 9               16              

- salaries 1,187        1,961         

1,282        2,097         

(f) Impairment losses

- inventories -            9                

- bad debts 11             37              

11             46              

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2014

An analysis of the Company's revenue for the year, from continuing operations, is as follows:
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NOTE 6: INCOME TAX

2014 2013

 $'000  $'000 

(a) Income tax expense

The major components of income tax expense are:

Income statement

Current income tax

Current income tax expense 660            394               

Under/(over) provision from previous years (18) -                    

642            394               

Deferred tax expense

Relating to origination and reversal of temporary differences 71              (99)

Under/(over) provision from previous years 73              (29)

144            (128)

Income tax expense reported in the statement of comprehensive income 786            266               

Income tax expense/(benefit) attributable to:

Continuing operations (2) 44                 

Discontinued operations 788            222               

Income tax expense reported in the statement of comprehensive income 786            266               

(b) Amounts charged or credited directly to equity

Asset revaluation (50) -                    

Income tax expense/(benefit) reported in equity (50) -                    

(c)

Accounting loss from continuing operations (5,372) (5,113)

Accounting profit from discontinued operations 3,779         1,462            

Accounting loss before tax (1,593) (3,651)

At the Company's statutory income tax rate of 30% (2013: 30%) (478) (1,095)

Tax effect of amounts which are not deductible (taxable) in calculating taxable income:

Impact of different foreign tax rates (102) (4)

Other expenses 43              108               

Under provided for in prior years (45) (24)

Derecognition of current and prior year temporary tax losses 475            1,279            

Derecognition of current and prior year current tax losses 1,037         

Discontinued operations capital tax on asset disposal (249) -                    

Discontinued operations other tax expenses including prior year overs/unders 102            -                    

Foreign exchange (gains)/losses and other translation adjustments 3                2                   

Income tax expense reported in the statement of comprehensive income 786            266               

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2014

Current income tax and deferred income tax related to items charged or credited directly 

to equity:

Numerical reconciliation between aggregate tax expense recognised in the statement of comprehensive

income and tax expense calculated per the statutory income tax rate

A reconciliation between tax expense and the product of accounting profit/(loss) before income tax multiplied by the

Company's applicable income tax rate is as follows:
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(d) Recognised deferred tax assets and liabilities 2014 2014 2013 2013

 $'000  $'000  $'000  $'000 

Current Deferred Current Deferred

income tax income tax income tax income tax

Opening balance (141) (133) (148) (264)

Charged to income (640) (144) (394) 128               

Charged to equity -                 50              -                 -                    

Other payments/tax losses not recognised (2) 225            401            3                   

Closing balance (783) (2) (141) (133)

Tax expense in statement of comprehensive income 786            266               

Amounts recognised in the statement of financial position:

Deferred tax asset 2                133               

Deferred tax liability (58) (295)

(56) (162)

2014 2013

Deferred income tax at 30 September relates to the following:  $'000  $'000 

Deferred tax liabilities

Mine development -                 (359)

Prepayments -                 -                    

Accelerated depreciation: plant and equipment, motor vehicles (58) (146)

Unrealised (gains)/losses -                 (295)

(58) (800)

Less set-off of deferred tax assets -                 505               

Net deferred tax liabilities (58) (295)

Deferred tax assets

Property, plant and equipment 2                31                 

Mine development -                 18                 

Tax value of tax losses carried forward -                 512               

2                561               

Less set-off of deferred tax liabilities -                 (428)

Net deferred tax assets 2                133               

(e) Tax Losses

Australia Canada Total

A$'000 A$'000 A$'000

Year of expiry

Income tax losses

Not later than twenty years -                 8,980         8,980            

Unlimited 34,344       -                 34,344          

34,344       8,980         43,324          

Capital tax losses

Unlimited 220            -                 220               

220            -                 220               

Gross amount of tax losses not recognised 34,564       8,980         43,544          

Tax effect of total losses not recognised 10,369       2,332         12,701          

The Company has an unrecognised deferred tax benefit relating to capital and income tax losses of $12.701 million

(2013: $12.232 million). The Company recognises the benefit of tax losses only to the extent of anticipated future

taxable income or gains in relevant jurisdictions. The gross amount of tax losses carried forward that have not been

tax effected expire as follows:

Balance Sheet
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(f) Tax Consolidation

(i) Members of the tax consolidated group and the tax sharing arrangement

Nature of the tax funding agreement

Heemskirk Consolidated Limited and its 100% owned Australian resident subsidiaries formed a tax consolidated group

with effect from 27 July 2005. Heemskirk Consolidated Limited is the head entity of the tax consolidated group.

Members of the tax consolidated group have entered into a tax sharing agreement that provides for the allocation of

income tax liabilities between the entities should the head entity default on its tax payment obligations. No amounts

have been recognised in the financial statements in respect of this agreement on the basis that the possibility of

default is remote.

Members of the tax consolidated group have entered into a tax funding agreement. Under the funding agreement the

funding of tax within the group is based on accounting profit, which is not an acceptable method of allocation under

AASB Interpretation 1052.10. The tax funding agreement requires payments to/from the head entity to be recognised

via an inter-entity receivable (payable) which is at call. To the extent that there is a difference between the amount

charged under the tax funding agreement and the allocation under AASB Interpretation 1052, the head entity accounts

for these as equity transactions with the subsidiaries.

The amounts receivable or payable under the tax funding agreement are due upon receipt of the funding advice from

the head entity, which is issued as soon as practicable after the end of each financial year. The head entity may also

require payment of interim funding amounts to assist with its obligations to pay tax instalments. 
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NOTE 7: DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

2014 2013

$'000 $'000

Profit after income tax from Lethbridge 384            1,240         

Gain on sale after income tax from Lethbridge 2,607         -             

Total profit after income tax from Lethbridge 2,991         1,240         

Net gain after income tax from discontinued operations 2,991         1,240         

Earnings per share (EPS) on net gain after income tax from discontinued operations

Basic earnings per share (cents)             1.94             0.80 

Diluted earnings per share (cents)             1.87             0.78 

Lethbridge

The results of Lethbridge are as follows: 2014 2013

$'000 $'000

Revenue 16,467       23,134       

Cost of sales (14,093)      (19,483)      

Gross Profit 2,374         3,651         

Depreciation and amortisation expense (73)             (512)           

Finance income/(expenses) 2                (5)               

Other expenses (225)           (29)             

Impairment losses (134)           (3)               

Corporate charges * (1,273)        (1,640)        

Profit before income tax 671            1,462         

Income tax (expense) (287)           (222)           

Profit after income tax 384            1,240         

(i) Gain on Sale:

Consideration received ** 10,291       -             

Earnings adjustment *** (495)           

Net consideration receivable 9,796         -             

Carrying amount of net assets sold (5,944)        -             

Transaction costs (715)           -             

Foreign currency translation reserve recycling (29)             -             

Gain on sale before income tax from Lethbridge 3,108         -             

Income tax expense (501)           -             

Gain on sale after income tax from Lethbridge 2,607         -             

2014

(ii) Carrying amount of net assets sold $'000

Inventories 2,290         

Property, plant & equipment 3,597         

Mine development 147            

Interest bearing liabilities (17)             

Employee liabilities (73)             

Net Assets 5,944         

(iii) The net cash flows of Lethbridge are as follows: 2014 2013

$'000 $'000

Net cash flows from operating activities 2,382         2,295         

Net cash flows used in investing activities 9,344         (610)           

Net cash flows from/(used in) financing activities (11,743)      (2,913)        

Net cash provided by discontinued operations (17)             (1,228)        

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2014

On 21 January 2014, the Company announced that a Sale Agreement was executed for the sale of its operating

mineral products plant in Lethbridge, Canada and barite mineral claims in the United States with Marquis Alliance

Energy. The sale was approved by shareholders on 20 March 2014 and completed on 31 March 2014. The gain on

sale after tax of Lethbridge was CAD $2.641 million ($2.607 million).

* Corporate charges is the portion of Calgary overhead costs allocated to Lethbridge.

** Consideration comprises CAD8.440 million ($8.356 million) for the Net Assets excluding Inventories plus 

CAD2.052 million ($2.103million) for Inventories. "Inventories" sold represent the final raw materials and finished 

goods held at the time of sale completion including spare parts, as at 31 March 2014.

*** The purchaser is entitled to Lethbridge earnings after tax from 1 February to 31 March 2014.
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NOTE 8: DIVIDENDS PAID AND PROPOSED

2014 2013

 $'000  $'000 

(a) Recognised amounts

Declared during the year:

Dividends on ordinary shares:

Final fully franked dividend in respect of 2013: 0 cents (2012: 0 cents)               -                 -   

Paid during the year

Dividends on ordinary shares:

Final fully franked dividend in respect of 2013: 0 cents (2012: 0 cents)               -                 -   

(b) Franking credit balance

The amount of franking credits available for the subsequent financial year are:

Franking credit balance as at 1 October            866            866 

- Tax paid/(refunded)               -                 -   

- Franked dividends paid               -                 -   

- Franked dividends received               -                 -   

Franking credit balance as at 30 September            866            866 

The amount of franking credits available for future reporting periods:

-

              -                 -   

-

              -                 -   

           866            866 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2014

Franking credits/(debits) that will arise from the payment/(refund) of

the amount of the provision for income tax

Impact on the franking account of dividends proposed or declared

before the financial report was authorised for issue but not recognised

as a distribution to equity holders during the period
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NOTE 9: EARNINGS PER SHARE

(a) Earnings used in calculating earnings per share 2014 2013

 $'000  $'000 

The following reflects the income used in the basic earnings per share computations:

For basic earnings per share:

Net profit/(loss) from continuing operations (5,370)      (5,157)      

Net profit/(loss) from discontinued operations 2,991        1,240        

Net profit/(loss)        (2,379)        (3,917)

For diluted earnings per share:

Net profit/(loss) (from basic EPS) from continuing operations (5,370)      (5,157)      

Tax effect interest on unsecured convertible notes - liability 203          208          

Diluted Net profit/(loss) from continuing operations        (5,167)        (4,949)

(b) Weighted average number of shares 2014 2013 

Thousands 

 

Thousands 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for basic earnings per share 154,472    154,139    

Effect of dilution:

Converted debt securities 5,667        5,667        

Reserved shares 105          134          

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the effect of dilution 160,244    159,940    

(c) Earnings per share (EPS) 2014 2013
 Cents per 

share 

 Cents per 

share 

Basic EPS from continuing operations (3.48)        (3.35)        

Basic EPS from discontinued operations 1.94         0.80         

Diluted EPS from continuing operations (3.48)        (3.35)        

Diluted EPS from discontinued operations 1.87         0.78         

Because diluted earnings per share is increased when taking the unsecured converting notes into account, the

unsecured converting notes are anti-dilutive and as such are excluded from the calculation of diluted earnings per

share.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2014

Diluted Net profit/(loss) from discontinued operations is the same as basic net profit/(loss) from discontinued 

operations.
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NOTE 10: CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

2014 2013

$'000 $'000

Cash at bank and in hand 8,466       982          

Short term deposit 3,635       7,520       

Total cash and cash equivalents as per the statement of cash flows 12,101     8,502       

NOTE 11: TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2014 2013

$'000 $'000

Current

Trade receivables (i) (ii) 200          3,928       

Goods and services tax 34            38            

Other debtors 154          20            

388          3,986       

Credit Risk

(i) Allowance for impairment loss

(ii) Employee loan receivable

2014 2013

$'000 $'000

Current

Raw materials and stores (at cost or NRV) 1,342       5,468       

Finished goods (at cost or NRV) 55            466          

Total inventories at cost and net realisable value 1,397       5,934       

Inventory expense

Inventories recognised as an expense for continuing operations for the year ended 30 September 2014 totalled

$0.272 million (2013: $0.304 million) for the Company. This expense has been included in the cost of sales

from continuing operations line item as a cost of inventories.

Inventory write-downs recognised as an expense totalled $nil (2013: $0.012 million).

Refer to Note 22(c) for the Company's material credit risk exposure. 

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on 30 day terms. An allowance for impairment

loss is recognised when there is objective evidence that a trade receivable is impaired. There was a

$0.011million impairment loss for 2014 (2013: $0.036 million).

The maximum exposure to credit risk, excluding the value of any collateral or other security, at balance date to

recognised financial assets, is the carrying amount, net of any provisions for doubtful debts of those assets, as

disclosed in the balance sheet and notes to the financial statements.

Includes related party receivable and provision for impairment loss, details refer to Note 27(d).

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2014

NOTE 12: INVENTORIES

Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates.  The carrying amounts of cash 

and cash equivalents represents fair value.

The NAB short term deposit attracts interest at 3.4% (2013: 3.7%) and matures in December 2014.
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2014 2013

$'000 $'000

Current

Equity investments (a) 4,144       6,353       

Term deposit (b) 82            78            

4,226       6,431       

(a) Equity investments comprise financial assets measured at fair value through profit and loss

Current

Listed investments (i) 4,144       5,690       

Unlisted investments (Almonty warrants) (ii) -           663          

4,144       6,353       

(i) Listed shares

(ii) Unlisted shares and warrants

Valuation assumptions

(b) Term Deposits 2014 2013

$'000 $'000

Current

Term Deposit - NAB 82            78            

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2014

The fair value of listed equity investments has been determined per Note 1(h)(i).

The NAB current term deposit attracts interest at 3.4% (2013: 3.7 %) and matures April 2015.

NOTE 13: OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

The fair value of warrants was estimated using the Black-Scholes Model taking into account the terms and

conditions upon which the warrants were issued. The valuation was determined by reference to comparable

share price volatilities.

The warrants expired on 23 September 2014 and a realised loss was recognised in the Statement of

Comprehensive Income.
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NOTE 14: PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(a) Reconciliation of carrying amounts at the beginning and end of the period

Freehold Land Buildings

Plant and 

Equipment 

Computer 

Hardware and 

Software Motor Vehicles

Leasehold 

Improvements Total

 $'000  $'000  $'000  $'000  $'000  $'000  $'000 

Year ended 30 September 2014

At 1 October 2013, net of accumulated 

depreciation 2,777                 1,045                 2,481                 72                      135                    2                        6,512                 

Additions 14                      -                       125                    35                      -                       -                       174                    

Disposals at written-down value -                       -                       (1)                       (5)                       -                       -                       (6)                       

Revaluation (401)                   -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       (401)                   

Depreciation charge for the year * -                       (60)                     (282)                   (52)                     (12)                     (2)                       (408)                   

Disposals in discontinued operations (1,863)                (407)                   (1,210)                (12)                     (105)                   -                       (3,597)                

Foreign currency increase / (decrease) (121)                   (34)                     (124)                   -                       (8)                       -                       (288)                   

At 30 September 2014 net of accumulated 

depreciation 406                    544                    989                    37                      10                      -                     1,987                 

At 30 September 2014

Cost or fair value 406                    770                    2,461                 242                    77                      116                    4,072                 

Accumulated depreciation -                     (226)                   (1,472)                (205)                   (67)                     (116)                   (2,086)                

Net carrying amount 406                    544                    989                    37                      10                      -                     1,986                 

Year ended 30 September 2013

At 1 October 2012, net of accumulated 

depreciation 2,601                 872                    2,755                 104                    56                      10                      6,398                 

Additions 18                      175                    252                    28                      135                    -                       608                    

Disposals at written-down value -                       -                       (5)                       -                       -                       -                       (5)                       

Depreciation charge for the year -                       (60)                     (703)                   (61)                     (64)                     (8)                       (896)                   

Foreign currency increase / (decrease) 158                    58                      182                    1                        8                        -                       407                    

At 30 September 2013 net of accumulated 

depreciation 2,777                 1,045                 2,481                 72                      135                    2                        6,512                 

At 1 October 2012

Cost or fair value 2,601                 1,083                 5,794                 237                    554                    117                    10,386               

Accumulated depreciation -                       (211)                   (3,040)                (133)                   (498)                   (107)                   (3,988)                

Net carrying amount 2,601                 872                    2,754                 104                    56                      10                      6,398                 

At 30 September 2013

Cost or fair value 2,777                 1,334                 6,297                 267                    658                    116                    11,449               

Accumulated depreciation -                       (289)                   (3,816)                (195)                   (523)                   (114)                   (4,937)                

Net carrying amount 2,777                 1,045                 2,481                 72                      135                    2                        6,512                 

2014 2013

 $'000  $'000 

Depreciation charge in continuing operation (335)                   (389)                   

Depreciation charge in discontinued operation (73)                     (507)                   

Total depreciation (408)                   (896)                   

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2014

Freehold land is measured at its fair value with an independent valuation being performed every 3 to 5 years and annual directors appraisals. The last independent valuation was

performed on 9 May 2011. The valuation method used in determining fair value is the direct comparison approach. Fair value determined using this approach is compared against

market transactions of similar parcels of land and then adjusted for characteristics specific to the site being valued. Freehold land is categorised as level 3 in the fair value hierarchy

as adjustments made to the price per acre are unobservable. The price per acre has been determined as CAD$5,000. A change in this value would have a corresponding impact on

fair value.

* Depreciation and amortisation charges for the year includes:
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NOTE 15: EXPLORATION, EVALUATION AND MINE DEVELOPMENT

Reconciliation of carrying amounts at the beginning and end of the period

Exploration and 

Evaluation

Mine 

Development Total

 $'000  $'000  $'000 

YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2014

At 1 October 2013, net of accumulated 

amortisation 4,628                 539                    5,167                 

Additions 530                    11                      541                    

Impairment -                     (98)                     (98)                     

Amortisation charge for the year -                     (64)                     (64)                     

Disposal in discontinued operations (16)                     (131)                   (147)                   

Foreign currency increase/(decrease) 46                      (15)                     31                      

At 30 September 2014, net of accumulated 

amortisation 5,188                 242                    5,430                 

At 30 September 2014

Cost or fair value 5,188                 386                    5,574                 

Accumulated amortisation -                     (144)                   (144)                   

Net carrying amount 5,188                 242                    5,430                 

YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2013

At 1 October 2012, net of accumulated 

amortisation 3,253                 542                    3,795                 

Additions 988                    1                        989                    

Amortisation charge for the year -                     (39)                     (39)                     

Foreign currency increase/(decrease)
387                    35                      422                    

At 30 September 2013, net of accumulated 

amortisation 4,628                 539                    5,167                 

At 1 October 2012

Cost or fair value 3,253                 840                    4,093                 

Accumulated amortisation -                     (298)                   (298)                   

Net carrying amount 3,253                 542                    3,795                 

At 30 September 2013

Cost or fair value 4,628                 899                    5,527                 

Accumulated amortisation -                     (360)                   (360)                   

Net carrying amount 4,628                 539                    5,167                 

2014 2013

 $'000  $'000 

Amortisation in continuing operations (64)                     (34)                     

Amortisation in discontinued operations -                     (5)                       

Total amortisation (64)                     (39)                     

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2014

                           52



NOTE 16: TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

2014 2013

$'000 $'000

Current

Trade payables (i) 182           3,045        

Sundry creditors and accrued expenses 525           3,302        

707           6,347        

(i) Trade and sundry creditors

NOTE 17: INTEREST BEARING LOANS AND BORROWINGS

2014 2013

$'000 $'000

Current

Secured Liabilities

Obligations under finance leases and hire purchase contracts (Note 23) -            7               

Bank overdraft -            2,295        

Unsecured Liabilities

Convertible notes - unsecured (a) 2,776        2,842        

Other loans (unsecured) -            -            

2,776        5,144        

Non-current

Secured Liabilities

Obligations under finance leases and hire purchase contracts (Note 23) -            15             

-            15             

(a) Convertible notes - unsecured comprise:

Unsecured convertible notes are disclosed based on the potential impact on liquidity, such as when cash payments

are due within one year they are disclosed as current liabilities.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2014

On 31 March 2011, the Company issued 1,889,000 unsecured convertible notes with an issue price of $2.00. Each

unsecured convertible note may be converted into 3 ordinary shares and $1.45 cash every six months commencing

31 December 2012. If there are any unsecured convertible notes outstanding at maturity, 30 March 2015, the

Company will convert them for 3 fully paid ordinary shares and $1.45 cash per note. The notes attract interest at

10.25% per annum paid semi annually.

For terms and conditions attached to each type of borrowing, refer to section (b) below and to Note 23 for finance

leases.

The fair value of the unsecured convertible notes approximates its carrying value.

Trade payables, sundry creditors and accrued expenses are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 30 to 45 

day terms.
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(b) Financing facilities available

At reporting date, the following financing facilities had been negotiated and were available:

2014 2013

$'000 $'000

Total facilities:

Bank overdraft -            6,254        

Loans and finance leasing -            542           

-            6,796        

Facilities used at reporting date:

Bank overdraft -            2,295        

Letter of credit -            2,142        

Loans and finance leasing -            21             

-            4,458        

Facilities unused at reporting date:

Bank overdraft -            1,816        

Loans and finance leasing -            521           

-            2,337        

                           54



NOTE 18: PROVISIONS

2014 2013

$'000 $'000

Current

Annual leave 184             375             

Long service leave 81               145             

265             520             

Non-current

Long service leave 12               8                 

Restoration 23               69               

35               77               

(a) Movements in provisions

Movements in restoration provision during the financial year:

Restoration

 $'000 

At 1 October 2013 69               

Change in discount rate 7                 

Utilised during the year (46)              

Disposal during the year (7)                

At 30 September 2014 23               

Current 2014 -                

Non-current 2014 23               

23               

Current 2013 -                

Non-current 2013 69               

69               

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2014
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2014

NOTE 19: CONTRIBUTED EQUITY

2014 2013

 $'000  $'000 

(a) 79,757 79,842

(b) (592)          (677)          

(c) 1               1               

(d) 15 15

(e)
2,003 2,003

81,184 81,184

Shares 

thousands $'000

(a) Ordinary shares

At 1 October 2012 154,105 79,842

At 30 September 2013 154,105 79,842

334 (85)

As at 30 September 2014 154,438 79,757

Unissued shares

Voting and other rights

Shares 

thousands  $ '000

(b) Reserved shares

At 1 October 2012 2,089 (677)          

1 March 2013 - ESP shares expired and used for issue (675) -            

1 March 2013 - ESP - shares issued (i) 675 -            

At 1 October 2013 2,089        (677)          

30 September 2014 - ESP vested shares quoted as ordinary shares (334) 85

At 30 September 2014 1,755 (592)

1,755,297(2013: 2,088,860) reserved shares

1,889,000 (2013: 1,889,000) Converting notes unsecured, matures 30/03/2015

1,500,000 (2013: 1,500,000) Class B $0.50 ordinary shares (paid to $0.01)

Reserve shares quoted - vested shares in employee share plan trust

154,438,439 (2013: 154,104,876) fully paid ordinary shares

There are no remaining options over unissued ordinary shares of the parent entity or obligations in contract to issue

ordinary shares in the parent entity, other than those attributed to the unsecured converting notes.

At meetings of members each ordinary share is entitled to one vote when a poll is called, otherwise each

shareholder has one vote on a show of hands.

Ordinary shares participate in dividends and the proceeds on winding up of the parent entity in proportion to the

number of shares held.

The Company's own equity instruments are reacquired for later use in employee share-based payment

arrangements (reserved shares) and are deducted from equity. 

(i) No shares were offered in 2014. Shares were issued 12 cents per share in 2013. Under current accounting

standards and pronouncements 'fair value' of the issue is recognised as an employee benefit expense over the

term of the benefit. The standards and pronouncements also require that equity be recognised at fair value at the

date of the grant and that additional amounts are only recognised upon re-payment of the loan provided.

When managing capital, the Board's objective is to ensure the Company continues as a going concern as well as to

maintain optimal returns to shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders. The Board also aims to maintain a

capital structure that ensures the lowest cost of capital available to the entity.

100,000 (2013: 100,000) Class A $0.25 ordinary shares (paid to $0.01)
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Vesting

Voting and other rights

Employee shares 

-

-

-

(c) Class A $0.25 ordinary shares

Partly paid

At 1 October 2013 100 1

At 30 September 2014 100           1               

(d) Class B $0.50 ordinary shares

Partly paid

At 1 October 2013 1,500 15

At 30 September 2014 1,500        15             

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                     

Issue terms

Each partly paid share:

 - was issued at 1 cent;

 - at 30 September 2014 has an amount unpaid of:

Shares

thousands

(e) Convertible and converting notes - unsecured equivalent $'000

At 1 October 2012 5,667        2,003        

At 1 October 2013 5,667 2,003

At 30 September 2014 5,667 2,003

Voting and other rights

- 

- 

- 

- 

carries the right to participate in bonus issues of securities in the proportion which the amount paid bears to the total

amounts paid and payable;

carries the right upon conversion to ordinary shares to receive dividends and distributions in the proportion which

the amount paid bears to the total amounts paid and payable.

     (ii) for Class B partly paid shares - 49.00 cents.

carries the right to participate in new issues of securities to holders of shares (except bonus issues) on the same

basis as holders of ordinary shares;

carry the right to participate in new issues of securities to holders of ordinary shares on the same basis as holders

of ordinary shares; and

do not have the right to vote at meetings of members of the parent entity.

The unsecured convertible and converting notes issued contain both an equity and a debt component. The balance

of $2.003 million (2013: $2.003 million) represents the component of the notes recognised directly in equity. The

liability component of the notes is reflected in interest bearing loans and borrowings (refer to Note 17).

carries the right to vote in the proportion which the amount paid bears to the total amounts paid and payable; and

Shares 

thousands $'000

The employee shares issued are under the terms described in Note 20(b).

participate in dividends on the same basis as holders of ordinary shares and the proceeds on winding up of the

parent entity in proportion to the number of shares held;

     (i) for Class A partly paid shares - 24.00 cents; and
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NOTE 20: SHARE BASED PAYMENT PLAN

2014 2013

$'000 $'000

(a) Recognised share-based payment expenses

9                 33               

9                 33               

The share-based payment is described below. 

(b) Types of share-based payment 

Employee Share Loans ("ESL")

(c) Summary of ESP shares granted 

2014 2014 2013 2013

No. WAIP No. WAIP

Shares outstanding at the beginning of the year 1,189,442    0.17            620,947      0.26            

Shares granted during the year -                   -                  674,620      0.12            

Shares expired during the year  (345,196) -                   (106,125) -                  

Shares sold as employee exercise during the year  (65,257) -                  -                  -                  

Shares outstanding at the end of the year 778,989       0.17            1,189,442   0.17            

Rights outstanding at the beginning of the year 955,080       0.05 177,448      0.02

Rights granted during the year 704,116       0.01 777,632      0.05

Rights expired during the year  (474,642) 0.00 0.00

Rights outstanding at the end of the year 1,184,554    0.01 955,080      0.05

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2014

Employee Share Plan ("ESP")

Shares may be granted to employees, with more than 12 months’ service, to align interests with those of share

holders to increase the value of the Company's shares. Under the terms of grant, the share price was set by

reference to the market price of the shares on the date of grant and previous share issues by the Company. The

shares were issued as restricted securities. There are no ongoing performance hurdles governing vesting other

than the continued employment of the employee. Subject to that continuing employment the shares issued vest

automatically on the anniversary of the issue date at the rate of 25% each year.

If an employee ceases employment prior to the vesting of the shares, the unvested shares are forfeited unless

cessation of employment is due to death. In the event of a change of control the vesting period dates may be

brought forward to the date of the change of control and awards will vest subject to performance over this

shortened period. 

Under the ESP an interest free loan is made to the employee to fund the acquisition of shares in the Company.

70% of dividends are required to be applied to the loan reduction and the loan balance must be paid out from

share sale proceeds. If the share sale proceeds are less than the value of the loan, the employee pays the

balance of the loan. If the loan balance is not retired, the employee is unable to receive any benefit from the

shares.  If an employee leaves prior to vesting of shares then the shares are forfeited and the loan is cancelled.  

The following table illustrates the number (No.) and weighted average issue prices (WAIP) of, and movements in,

shares and rights issued during the year:

* No shares were issued in 2014. The weighted average share price at the date of issue, and the 4 days prior to

issue, was $0.11 in 2013. The weighted average of the remaining contractual life of ESP shares granted is 1.5

(2013: 1.5) years.

Total expense arising from share-based payment transactions

Expense arising from equity-settled share-based payment transactions

The expense recognised for employee services received during the year is shown in

the table below:
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(d) Weighted average fair value

(e) Fair Value pricing model: ESP

Equity-settled transactions

The following table lists the key assumptions to the model used for the year ended 30 September 2014:

Model used Binomial

Forecast dividend yield (%) 0.00

Expected volatility (%) 69.00

Risk-free interest rate (%) 3.71

Expected life (years) 4.00

Employee exit rate (%) 57.00

Exercise multiple (times) 1.00

Issue price ($) 0.07

Weighted average share price at 

measurement date ($) 0.01

The following table lists the key assumptions to the model used for the year ended 30 September 2013:

Model used Binomial

Forecast dividend yield (%) 0.00

Expected volatility (%) 110.00

Risk-free interest rate (%) 2.85

Expected life (years) 4.00

Employee exit rate (%) 60.00

Exercise multiple (times) 1.00

Issue price ($) 0.12

Weighted average share price at 

measurement date ($) 0.11

The fair value of the equity-settled ESP shares issued is estimated as at the date of grant using a Binomial Model

taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the shares were issued. The model takes into account

the historic share price volatilities and implied dividend yields.

The provision of the non-recourse loan has required that the ESP shares issued be treated as if the issue was a

grant of options on the relevant date. Under those principles the fair value of ESP issued during 2013 year was

$0.02. No shares were issued during 2014. 

Forecast dividend has been based on dividend history over the previous 3 years. The rate assumed is an

expected average over the four-year period and is based on market yields generally found in resource-based

operating companies. This may not necessarily be an outcome as the Company has not announced a stated

dividend policy. The expected volatility was determined using an historical sample of 80 week-end Company

share prices. The resulting expected volatility therefore reflects the assumption that the historical volatility is

indicative of future trends, which may also not necessarily be the actual outcome. The expected life of the option

is equivalent to the maximum period when all shares will vest. Accordingly there is no discount for vesting shares

during the term. As the shares have been issued, and not subject to further election to exercise the exercise

multiple has been taken as a 1:1 (2013: 1:1) relationship. 
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NOTE 21: RETAINED EARNINGS AND RESERVES

2014 2013

 $'000  $'000 

(a) Movement in retained earnings were as follows:

Balance 1 October (59,874)    (55,957)    

Net profit/(loss) (2,379)      (3,917)      

Transfer of asset revaluation reserve on diposal of land 1,342        -           

Balance 30 September (60,911)    (59,874)    

(b) Nature and purpose of reserves

Asset revaluation reserve

Foreign currency translation reserve

Employee equity benefits reserve

The foreign currency translation reserve records exchange differences arising on translation of foreign-controlled 

subsidiaries.

The Company has an employee share based payment plan in place. The employee equity benefits reserve is

used to recognise the value of equity settled share based payment transactions provided to employees - refer

Note 20.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2014

The asset revaluation reserve is used to record increments and decrements in the fair value of land.

In accordance with the requirements of the accounting standards, foreign currency translation gains/(losses)

remain deferred in equity until the disposal of the foreign operation, at which point they are recognised in the

statement of comprehensive income.
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NOTE 22: FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Company's financial risk management objectives and policies are outlined in Note 2.

(a) Interest rate risk

2014 2013

 $'000  $'000 

Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 12,101        8,502          

12,101        8,502          

Financial Liabilities

Bank overdrafts -              (2,295)         

-              (2,295)         

Net exposure 12,101        6,207          

2014 2013 2014 2013

 $'000  $'000  $'000  $'000 

movements:

Consolidated

+1% (100 basis points) 85               43               85                  43                

-1% (100 basis points) (85)              (43)              (85)                 (43)               

(b) Foreign currency risk

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2014

Higher/(Lower) Higher/(Lower)

Judgements of reasonably 

The sensitivity is higher in 2014 than 2013 because of an increase in net exposure.

The Company undertakes transactions denominated in foreign currencies, hence exposures to exchange rate fluctuations

arise. The majority of the Company's revenues and costs are denominated in AUD and CAD dollars.

Measuring the exposure to foreign exchange risk is achieved by regularly monitoring and performing sensitivity analysis on the

Company's financial position.

Approximately nil% (2013: nil%) of sales and nil% (2013: 59%) of costs are denominated in currencies other than the

functional currency of the individual entities.

The Company's policy is to manage its finance costs using a mix of fixed and variable rate debt.

The following sensitivity analysis is based on the interest rate risk exposures in existence at the balance sheet date:

Risk Exposures and Responses

The Company's exposure to market interest rates relates primarily to the Company's bank overdraft and cash and cash

equivalents. The level of debt is disclosed in Note 17.

At balance date, the Company had the following mix of financial assets and liabilities exposed to interest rate risk:

Post Tax Profit Equity

At 30 September 2014, if interest rates had moved, as illustrated in the table below, with all other variables held constant, post

tax profit and equity would have been affected as follows: 

The Company's balance sheet can be affected by movements in the A$/CAD$ and CAD$/US$ exchange rates.
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2014 2013 2014 2013

 $'000  $'000  $'000  $'000 

Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 6,896          301             45                277          

Equity investments 3,886          5,807          -               -           

10,782        6,108          45                277          

Financial Liabilities

Trade and other payables -              -              (10)               (4,134)      

-              -              (10)               (4,134)      

Net exposure 10,782        6,108          35                (3,857)      

2014 2013 2014 2013

 $'000  $'000  $'000  $'000 

movements:

Consolidated

AUD/CAD +10% (755)            (427)            (755)               (427)             

AUD/CAD -10% 755             427             755                427              

CAD/USD +10% 4                 270             4                    270              

CAD/USD -10% (4)                (270)            (4)                   (270)             

(c) Credit risk

Management believe the balance date risk exposures are representative of the risk exposure inherent in the financial

statements.

Canadian dollars

At 30 September 2014, the carrying amounts of the Company's CAD$ and US$ financial assets and liabilities are as follows:

At 30 September 2014, if the Canadian and United States Dollar moved, as illustrated in the table below, with all other

variables held constant, post tax profit and equity would have been affected as follows: 

US dollars

The Company limits its counterparty credit risk on liquid funds and derivative financial instruments by dealing with banks or

financial institutions with credit ratings of at least B+ equivalent.

Post Tax Profit Equity

Higher/(Lower) Higher/(Lower)

Credit risk arises from the financial assets of the Company, which comprise cash and cash equivalents, trade and other

receivables and derivative financial instruments. The Company's exposure to credit risk arises from the potential default of the

counter party, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amount of these instruments.

The movements in the profit in 2014 is more sensitive than 2013 due to an increase in the net exposure.

The Company trades only with recognised, creditworthy third parties, and such collateral is not requested nor is it the

Company's policy to securitise its trade and other receivables.

It is the Company's policy that all customers who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to verification procedures including

an assessment of their independent credit rating, financial position, past experience and industry reputation.

Receivables are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the Company's exposure to bad debts is not significant.

There was a $0.011 million impairment for 2014 and $0.036 million for 2013 (refer to Note 11) . 

The majority of the Company's receivables are due from customers in Canada, however, as a result of the Company's credit

policy, this credit risk is believed to be minimal. At balance date there was one customer that accounted for 5% (2013: 26%) of

the Company's receivables.

Judgements of reasonably possible
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Not Past 

Due 

Between 30 

and 90 days Over 91 days

Considered 

impaired Total

 $'000  $'000  $'000  $'000  $'000 

Trade Receivables 200             -              -                 -               200          

Other Receivables 188             -              -                 -               188          

Trade Receivables 3,197          716             15                  -               3,928       

Other Receivables 58               -              -                 -               58            

(d) Liquidity risk

Within

1 1-5

year years Total

 $'000  $'000  $'000 

Liquid Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 12,101        -                  12,101           

Trade and other receivables 388             -                  388                

Other financial assets 82               -                  82                  

12,571        -                  12,571           

Trade and other payables (707) -                  (707)

Interest loans and borrowings* (2,990) -                  (2,990)

(3,697) -                  (3,697)
Net inflow/(outflow) 8,874          -                  8,874             

The ageing of trade and other receivables at the reporting date was as follows:

Liquid non-derivative assets comprising cash and receivables are considered in the Company's overall liquidity risk. The

Company ensures that sufficient liquid assets are available to meet all required short-term cash payments.

The following table reflects all contractually fixed repayments and interest resulting from recognised financial assets and

financial liabilities.  

Liquidity risk arises from the financial liabilities of the Company and the Company's subsequent ability to meet its obligations to

repay its financial liabilities as and when they fall due.

The Company manages its liquidity risk by monitoring the total cash inflows and outflows by producing monthly cash flow

forecasts forward for a minimum of twelve months.

The following maturity analysis reflects all contractually fixed pay-offs, repayments and interest resulting from recognised

financial liabilities and recognised financial guarantees as at balance date. The timing of cash flows for liabilities is based on

the contractual terms of the underlying contract. Where the counterparty has a choice of when the amount is paid, the liability

is allocated to the earliest period in which the Company is required to pay. When the Company is committed to make amounts

available in instalments, each instalment is allocated in the earliest period in which the Company is required to pay. For

financial guarantee contracts, the maximum amount of the guarantee is allocated to the earliest period in which the guarantee

can be called. 

The risk implied from the values shown in the table below, reflects a balanced view of cash inflows and outflows of non-

derivative financial instruments. Trade payables and other financial liabilities mainly originate from the financing of assets used

in the Company's ongoing operations such as mine development, property plant and equipment and investments in working

capital (e.g. inventories and receivables). 

*Excludes unsecured converting notes equity component of $1.039 million.

Included in Note 17(b) is a list of undrawn facilities that the Company has had at its disposal to manage liquidity risk.

2014

Past due not impaired

2014

2013

The liquidity position of the Company is managed to ensure sufficient liquid funds are available to meet the Company's

financial commitments in a timely and cost-effective manner. The Company's objective is to maintain a balance between

continuity and flexibility through the use of bank overdrafts, equity investments and issue of unsecured converting notes. 
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Within

1 1-5

year years Total

 $'000  $'000  $'000 

Liquid Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 8,502          -                  8,502             

Trade and other receivables 3,986          -                  3,986             

Other financial assets 78               -                  78                  

12,566        -                  12,566           

Trade and other payables (6,347) -                  (6,347)

Interest loans and borrowings* (5,531) (15) (5,546)

(11,878) (15) (11,893)
Net inflow/(outflow) 688             (15) 673                

.

(e) Fair value

Quoted 

market 

price     

(Level 1)

Valuation 

technique - 

market 

observable 

inputs 

(Level 2)

Valuation 

technique - 

non market 

observable 

inputs (Level 

3) Total

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Financial assets

Equity investments

Listed investments - current 4,144   -    -  4,144

4,144   -    -  4,144

Financial liabilities

Convertible notes   -    -  2,776 2,776
  -    -  2,776 2,776

Financial assets

Equity investments

Listed investments - current 5,690   -    -  5,690

Unlisted investments   -    -  663 663

5,690   -  663 6,353

Financial liabilities

Convertible notes 2,842 2,842

Fx forward contracts   -  22   -  22
  -  22 2,842 2,864

2013

*Excludes unsecured converting notes equity component of $1.039 million.

2014

Quoted market price represents the fair value determined based on quoted prices on active markets as at the reporting date

without any deduction for transaction costs. The fair value of the listed equity investments are based on quoted market prices.

For financial instruments not quoted in active markets, the Company uses valuation techniques such as present value

techniques, comparison to similar instruments for which market observable prices exist and other relevant models used by

market participants. These valuation techniques use both observable and unobservable market inputs. 

The fair value of the financial instruments as well as the methods used to estimate the fair value are summarised in the table

below.

2013
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Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value movements

2014 2014

$'000 $'000

Unlisted 

investments

Convertible 

notes

Opening balance 663 2,842

Total gains/(losses) on warrants (663)   -  

Discount unwinding and transaction costs amortisation   -  (66)

Closing balance   -  2,776

(f) Price risk

2014 2013

 $'000  $'000 

Financial assets

Equity investments (i) 4,144 6,353

Total financial assets 4,144 6,353

Disclosed as:

Current 4,144 6,353

4,144 6,353

Financial derivative liabilities

Currency forward contracts   -  22

Total financial derivative liabilities   -  22

Disclosed as:

Current   -  22

  -  22

(i) Equity investments

2014 2013 2014 2013

 $'000  $'000  $'000  $'000 

movements:

Prices +10% 290             445             290                445              

Prices -10% (290)            (445)            (290)               (445)             

Judgements of reasonably 

possible 

Price risk arises from the investments in equity securities. The policy of the Company is to maintain exposure to equity price

movements. All of the investments are publicly traded either on the ASX or other global exchanges.

At 30 September 2014, if prices had moved, as illustrated in the table below, with all other variables held constant, post tax

profit and equity would have been affected as follows: 

Post Tax Profit Equity

Higher/(Lower) Higher/(Lower)

The Company's earnings are exposed to price fluctuations, in particular to equity investments.

The following table details the carrying amount of financial instruments as at the reporting date for the group, impacted by

price risk:
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NOTE 23: COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

2014 2013

 $'000  $'000 

(a) Commitments 

(i) Leasing commitments

Operating leases payable:

- within one year 154          384          

- after one year but not more than five years 23            419          

- after more than five years -           -           

Total minimum lease payments 177          803          

The operating leases comprise property leases and various equipment leases.

Finance leases

The finance leases comprise various equipment leases.

2014 2014 2013 2013

Minimum 

lease 

payments

Present 

value of 

lease 

payments

Minimum 

lease 

payments

Present 

value of 

lease 

payments

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

- within one year -           -           7              7              

- after one year but not more than five years -           -           15            14            

Total minimum lease payments -           -           22            21            

Less amounts representing finance charges -           -           (1)             -           

Present value of minimum lease payments -           -           21            21            

(ii) Property, plant and equipment commitments

The Company had $nil (2013: $nil) contractual obligations at balance date.

(iii) Exploration commitments

The Company had $nil (2013: $nil) exploration commitments at balance date.

The equipment leases are non-cancellable leases with a five-year term, with rent payable either monthly or

quarterly in advance.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2014

The property leases are non-cancellable leases with five-year terms, with rent payable monthly in advance. 

Rental provisions within the Australian property lease agreement require the minimum lease payments shall be

increased by 4% per annum. An option exists to renew the Australian lease at the end of the five-year term for

an additional term of five years.

Rental provisions within the Canadian property lease agreement require the minimum lease payments shall be

increased by 5% per annum. An option exists to renew the Canadian lease at the end of the five-year term for

an additional term of five years.
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NOTE 24: AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

2014 2013

 $  $ 

The auditor of Heemskirk Consolidated Limited is Ernst & Young.

Amounts received or due and receivable by Ernst & Young (Australia) for:

-

    113,600     145,600 

Amounts received or due and receivable by Ernst & Young (Canada) for:

-

      63,450       69,700 

177,050    215,300    

an audit or review of the financial report of the entity and any other entity in the 

consolidated group

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2014

an audit or review of the financial report of the entity and any other entity in the 

consolidated group
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(a) Segment Results and Segment Assets

NOTE 25: SEGMENT INFORMATION

Management has determined the operating segments based on reports reviewed by executive management (Chief

Operating Decision Maker) for making strategic decisions. The executive management team comprises the Board of

directors and executive general managers. The executive management team monitors the business based on

product and geographic factors and have identified three reportable segments.

Corporate charges are allocated to the Mining segments on a proportional basis linked to management time spent on

each Mining segment.

Mining Canada

Mining Canada had one customer that accounts for 5% of consolidated revenue (2013: 26%)

Segment accounting policies are the same as those applied across the group with the exception of gains/losses on

investments which are treated as segment revenue.

Further information relating to discontinued operations can be found in Note 7.

The measurement of segment results is in line with the basis of information presented to management for internal

management reporting purposes. The performance of each segment is measured on the net profit or loss after tax.

Segment information provided to the executive management team for the year ended 30 September 2014 is as

follows:

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2014

This segment covers all other corporate activities.

This segment covers operations 100% owned by the Company concerned with the mining and processing of

Industrial Mineral Products.  Lethbridge and Moberly sites have been aggregated on the segment report.

Portfolio

This segment covers the investment in listed and unlisted Resource Equities.

Corporate
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NOTE 25: SEGMENT INFORMATION CONTINUED

Mining

Canada Portfolio Corporate Consolidated

30 September 2014 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Total segment revenue (b) 16,707             (2,024)             531                  15,214             

Segment Operating EBITDA* 196                  (2,040)             (1,796)             (3,640)             

Depreciation & amortisation (431)                -                  (42)                  (473)                

Finance costs (132)                -                  (322)                (454)                

Corporate charges (579)                -                  579                  -                  

Profit/(Loss) on asset disposals 3,146               -                  (29)                  3,117               

Other indirects (132)                -                  (11)                  (143)                

Profit/(loss) before tax 2,068               (2,040)             (1,621)             (1,593)             

Income tax expense (786)                -                  -                  (786)                

Segment profit/(loss) after tax (c) 1,282               (2,040)             (1,621)             (2,379)             

Total Assets 10,077             4,144               11,564             25,785             

Total Liabilities (4,654)             -                  31                    (4,623)             

Mining

Canada Portfolio Corporate Consolidated

30 September 2013 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Total segment revenue (b) 23,582             (428)                413                  23,567             
-                  

Segment Operating EBITDA* 1,733               (1,221)             (2,466)             (1,954)             
-                  

Depreciation & amortisation (876)                -                  (59)                  (935)                

Finance costs (335)                -                  (437)                (772)                

Corporate charges (912)                -                  912                  -                  

Other indirects 46                    -                  (36)                  10                    

Profit/(loss) before tax (344)                (1,221)             (2,086)             (3,651)             

Income tax expense (266)                -                  -                  (266)                

Segment profit/(loss) after tax (c) (610)                (1,221)             (2,086)             (3,917)             

Total Assets 22,008             6,353               8,497               36,858             

Total Liabilities (17,519)           -                  4,958               (12,561)           

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2014

* Operating EBITDA is earnings before interest expense, income tax, depreciation, amortisation charges and other 

indirect expenses.
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NOTE 25: SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

30 September 

2014

30 September 

2013

$'000 $'000

(b)

Mining Canada (i) 337                   451                       

Corporate (ii) 242                   404                       

Portfolio (iii) 126                   -                        

705                   855                       

(i) Mining Canada

337                   451                       

Other income 128                   25                         

16,467              23,134                  

Other income/(expense) (225)                 (29)                        

16,707              23,581                  

(ii) Corporate

Interest received 242                   404                       

242                   404                       

Other income 289                   9                           

531                   413                       

(iii) Portfolio

Dividends received 126                   -                        

126                   -                        

Net gains/(losses) on equity investments (2,150)              (428)                      

(2,024)              (428)                      

15,214              23,566                  

(c)

               (2,379)                    (3,917)

               (2,379)                    (3,917)

Total Segment Revenue

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2014

Segment revenue reconciliation to statement of comprehensive income

Total Revenue from continuing operations per statement of comprehensive income

Mining Canada Revenue included in revenue from continuing operations

Total Segment Revenue - Mining Canada

Corporate Revenue included in revenue from continuing operations

Total Segment Revenue - Corporate

Portfolio Revenue included in revenue from continuing operations

Total Segment Revenue - Portfolio

Mining Canada Revenue included in revenue from discontinued operations

All non-current assets for Canada are disclosed in Notes 14 & 15 except for the computer hardware and software (Australia).

Segment net operating profit after tax reconciliation to the statement of 

comprehensive income

Segment profit/(loss) after tax

Profit/(loss) after tax per statement of comprehensive income 
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NOTE 26: RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURE

(a) Subsidiaries

Country of 

incorporation 2014 2013 2014 2013

Heemskirk Technical Services Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 -           -           

HSK Staff Share Plan Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 -           -           

Heemskirk Canada Holdings Ltd Canada 100 100 428           428           

Heemskirk Canada Ltd Canada 100 100 5,322        5,322        

HCA Mountain Minerals (Lethbridge) Ltd Canada 100 100 -           -           

HCA Mountain Minerals (Moberly) Ltd Canada 100 100 -           -           

HCA Mountain Minerals (Nevada) Ltd USA 100 100 -           -           

(b) 

2014 2013

 $'000  $'000 

Short-term employee benefits 1,401        1,453        

Post-employment benefits 121           125           

Termination benefits 200           303           

Share-based payment -           21             
Total remunuration 1,722        1,902        

(d) Other transactions with directors

In conjunction with the Founder's Plan settlement, loan facilities were made available to the Founder's to assist

with discharging any Australian taxation liability as a result of the settlement.The draw down by the Managing

Director of the facility as at 30 September 2014 is $0.311 million (2013: $0.279). This facility is interest-bearing

at market rates and repayable by cash or a predetermined number of pledged Company shares at a value of

50 cents per share plus termination payments. Any shortfall in repayments after the value of the loan facility

has been reduced by cash, the pledged Company shares and termination payments will be waived or forgiven

and treated as an expense. In the unlikely event of a termination for cause, the Company has recognised in

the accounts a potential short fall in relation to the Managing Director of $0.130 million as at 30 September

2014 (2013: $0.160 million).

On 28 July 2010 Heemskirk announced that it had been decided to terminate the Founders’ Plan and

settlement terms were agreed (Refer to Remuneration Report page 21). The outcome of the settlement has no

net effect on shareholders' equity and no net after tax cash outflows by the Company. The reasonableness of

this settlement was confirmed by an independent expert. The action had the full support of the Founders and

the then Heemskirk Board.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2014

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of Heemskirk Consolidated Limited

("ultimate parent") and the subsidiaries listed in the following table.

% Equity Interest Investment ($'000)

Remuneration of key management personnel
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NOTE 27: CASH FLOW STATEMENT RECONCILIATION

2014 2013

$'000 $'000

(a) Reconciliation of net profit after tax to net cash flows from operations

Net (loss) after income tax (2,379)      (3,917)      

Non-cash items

Depreciation, amortisation and impairments 616          983          

Foreign exchange losses/(gains) (274)         -           

Employee benefits taken as equity 9              33            

Non cash interest (revenue) (66)           (24)           

Net fair value change on equity investments 1,928        517          

Other non cash (revenue) -           (12)           

Items presented as investing or financing activities

Net (gains)/losses on equity investments 94            (41)           

Net (profit)/loss on disposal of fixed assets (2,607)      (56)           

Net (gains)/losses on disposal of subsidiaries -           1              

(Increase)/decrease in trade debtors 3,598        (2,383)      

(Increase)/decrease in other assets (4)             55            

(Increase)/decrease in inventories 2,247        (1,427)      

Increase/(decrease) in trade creditors (6,492)      2,067        

Increase/(decrease) in other receivables 63            261          

Increase/(decrease) in accruals and provisions (224)         275          

Increase/(decrease) in income taxes payable 642          (7)             

(Increase)/decrease in deferred tax assets 131          (133)         

Increase/(decrease) in deferred taxes payable (237)         31            

Net cash from/(used in) operating activities (2,955)      (3,777)      

(b) Disclosure of financing facilities

Refer to Note 17(d).

(c) Non cash financing and investing activities

Share-based payments (Note 20).

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2014

Changes in assets and liabilities:
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NOTE 28: PARENT ENTITY INFORMATION

2014 2013

$'000 $'000

(a) Income statement

Profit/(loss) after income tax (2,222)                           (3,031)

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year                     (2,222)        (3,031)

(b) Balance sheet

Current assets 15,784                   14,848      

Non-current assets 9,348                     13,067      

Total assets 25,132                   27,915      

Current liabilities 3,157                     3,726        

Non-current liabilities -                         -            

Total liabilities 3,157                     3,726        

Net assets 21,976                   24,189      

Contributed equity 82,320                   82,320      

Employee share based payment reserve 235                        226           

Retained earnings/(losses) (60,579)                  (58,357)    

Total Equity 21,976                   24,189      

(c) Commitments

(i) Leasing commitments

Operating leases

Payable

- within one year 61                          129           

- after one year but not more than five years 23                          211           

- after more than five years -                         -            

Total minimum lease payments 84                          340           

NOTE 29: EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE

There are no matters or circumstances which have arisen since 30 September 2014 that have significantly affected or may

significantly affect the operations of the Company, the results of those operations or the state of affairs of the Company in

subsequent financial years.

The equipment leases are non-cancellable leases with a five-year term, with rent payable monthly.

The property leases are non-cancellable leases with five-year terms, with rent payable monthly in advance. Rental

provisions within the Australian property lease agreement require the minimum lease payments shall be increased by

4% per annum. An option exists to renew the Australian lease at the end of the five-year term for an additional term of

five years.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2014

Parent

The summarised Income statement and Balance sheet in respect of the parent entity ("Company") is set out below.

The operating leases comprise property leases and various equipment leases.
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I Directors' Declaration

In accordance with a resolution of the directors of Heemskirk Consolidated Limited, we state that:

1 In the opinion of the directors:

(a)

(i) giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity's financial position as at 30 September 2014

and of its performance for the year ended on that date; and

(ii) complying with Accounting Standards and Corporations Regulations 2001; and

(b)

(c)

2

On behalf of the Board

Garry Cameron Peter Bird

Non-Executive Chairman Managing Director

Melbourne, 26 November 2014 Melbourne, 26 November 2014

the financial statements, notes and the additional disclosures included in the directors' report designated as 

audited, of the consolidated entity are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 , including:

there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they 

become due and payable.

This declaration has been made after receiving the declarations required to be made to the directors in 

accordance with section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001  for the financial year ending 30 September 2014.

the financial statements and notes also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in 

Note 1(b).
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of Heemskirk Consolidated
Limited
Report on the financial report

We have audited the accompanying financial report of Heemskirk Consolidated Limited, which comprises
the consolidated balance sheet as at 30 September 2014, the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for
the year then ended, notes comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information, and the directors' declaration of the consolidated entity comprising the
company and the entities it controlled at the year's end or from time to time during the financial year.

Directors' responsibility for the financial report
The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true
and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 and for
such internal controls as the directors determine are necessary to enable the preparation of the financial
report that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. In Note 1(b), the directors
also state, in accordance with Accounting Standard AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements, that
the financial statements comply with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Auditor's responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We conducted our
audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Those standards require that we comply with
relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial report is free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the financial report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment
of the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error. In making
those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal controls relevant to the entity's preparation and
fair presentation of the financial report in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's
internal controls. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion.

Independence

In conducting our audit we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations Act
2001.  We have given to the directors of the company a written Auditor’s Independence Declaration, a
copy of which is included in the directors’ report.



A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation

Page 2

Opinion

In our opinion:

a. the financial report of Heemskirk Consolidated Limited is in accordance with the Corporations
Act 2001, including:

i giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity's financial position as at 30 September
2014 and of its performance for the year ended on that date; and

ii  complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001;
and

b. the financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in
Note 1(b).

Report on the remuneration report

We have audited the Remuneration Report included in the directors' report for the year ended 30
September 2014. The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of
the Remuneration Report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on the Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted in
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.

Opinion
In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of Heemskirk Consolidated Limited for the year ended
30 September 2014, complies with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.

Ernst & Young

Michael Collins
Partner
Melbourne
26 November 2014


